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How to use this book


This book gives a chronology of the dialogue, such as it was, between Palestinians and their British ‘Mandatory’ rulers from the World War I years up until May 1948. It consists of 490 entries arranged by date. Nerds or insomniacs might read it straight through even though, taken in long doses, it induces not only tedium but also sadness and outrage. But most will use it as a reference book. That, in turn, allows it to be very long. Individual entries, on the other hand, have a digestible average length of just under three pages. Sixteen entries take up between 7 and 15 pages.


Its reference-book character has forced me to put quite a bit of detail into each entry so that they can be read as stand-alones presupposing little or no prior knowledge. While anyone reading through a set of consecutive entries would know, for instance, that Musa Kazem al-Husseini was head of the Arab Executive Committee or that Malcolm MacDonald was at the time the Colonial Secretary, I usually spell it out.


The title of each entry is preceded by its number, and on the right margin is its date. Entries usually deal with a document, statement, manifesto, letter, or report, often directly from Palestinians to British or vice versa, but sometimes to third parties or simply the whole world and likely to be heard or read by the other side.


Almost 100 entries are marked with asterisks (*). They comprise the most important milestones for the Palestine-Britain story and taken together can be read consecutively as a long book. To give a rough meta-narrative the entries are divided into 27 ‘sections’, given in bold and numbered I – XXVII.


The book succeeds to the extent that it can:


1. identify by name each entry’s main document or encounter (e.g. a statement of policy, a speech, talks, protocols, manifestos, agreements, correspondence, or indeed non-verbal political action or protest);


2. give a date, or occasionally a range of dates, for the document or encounter;


3. tell you who was transmitting and who was receiving;


4. give some context;


5. tell you where to find the document; and


6. give the primary source and/or its treatment in the secondary literature.


I often add textual analysis and normative comments.


A chronology is by definition not organised by theme. But I often try to connect themes by giving within my text, in brackets, e.g. [>100], entries dealing with the same material or people. The book contains a Theme Index describing 42 themes and the entries which touch on them. There is no places-and-names index, but using the online book one can search for any name or word; if one is reading the printed book, which is available on demand in two volumes, one can search using the online PDF, Web or ePub versions.


The entries’ contents consist of as much original text as possible, most of which is presented in somewhat smaller font and indented. Shorter quotations are presented “within quotation marks in the same font and paragraph”. The punctuation following quotations within the text almost always follows the quotation marks, as in the example in this paragraph.


As for footnote numbers in the text, I keep them close to the material or quotation being cited, with the result that they are often mid-sentence. Almost all footnotes consist only of bare citations and page numbers. Some are followed by ‘all citations’ or ‘all quotations’, meaning that the footnote gives the major source and its range of page numbers, while the specific page (p) or section (§) numbers are in parentheses within the text. Since I hate endnotes, I’ve made sure the printed and PDF versions of the book use footnotes.


I also usually give some historical context and often my own analysis or paraphrases of the quoted texts. Sometimes an entry is opened or closed with a normative evaluation of what was going on, written either by one of the many established commentators on the Mandate period or by me.


To navigate around in the electronic book or PDF open the navigation pane on the left by clicking on the bookmark icon, then skip when you want to a different entry by clicking on it. To return to where you left off, take the long route, in PDF, of >View, >Page Navigation, >Previous View (not ‘Previous Page’) or the short route of Alt (on your keyboard) + left arrow (a PDF icon at the top).


In addition to the ‘entries’, ‘events’ are interspersed chronologically in italics after many entries. Their dates are on the left in bold, then a quotation or paraphrase describes the event. About half the events have been taken verbatim from the chronology 100 Years of Palestinian History published by PASSIA in 2001 and edited by Mahdi Abdul Hadi (Abdul Hadi 1997); for these I don’t use quotation marks and give no footnotes. Others are in inverted commas, with their footnotes giving the source. Still others are in brackets, meaning either I am paraphrasing a footnoted source or, where there is no footnote, am writing based on general knowledge.


The book’s ‘Annex’ has six further sections:


1. a chapter called What the book is not – due to my choice of focus and the limitations of my knowledge


2. the Bibliography


3. 16 Appendices


4. the Theme Index


5. Acknowledgments


6. my Conclusions


Under ‘primary souces’ I understand books by eyewitnesses and records held by academic institutions and governments, for example:


1. Sources at the British National Archives are abbreviated according its cataloguing system: ‘CAB’ stands for ‘Cabinet Paper’ (most CAB documents are accessible online at https://discovery.nationalarchives.gov.uk), ‘CO’ for ‘Colonial Office’, ‘FO’ for ‘Foreign Office’, ‘WO’ for ‘War Office’, ‘T’ for Treasury, and ‘PREM’ for Prime Minister’s Office.


2. ‘Cmd.’ stands for ‘Command Paper’, meaning an important document stating the British Government’s policy issued by ‘command’ of the King, usually put to Parliament for approval or rejection. If a Command Paper is a major ‘Statement of Policy’ it is called a ‘White Paper’, a designation I use only for the 1922 ‘Churchill’, the 1930 ‘Passfield’ and the 1939 ‘MacDonald’ Statements of Policy. The 1937 ‘Peel’ and the 1938 ‘Woodhead’ Reports, for instance, while major studies of Britain’s problem, are not White Papers; they were however accompanied simultaneously by separate Command Papers adopting as Government policy the recommendations of the Reports.


3. Quotations from Hansard, the record of speeches in Parliament, are given according to date, House (Commons or Lords) and volume number; instead of the usual ‘p’ and ‘pp’ for page numbers, ‘c’ and ‘cc’ quaintly give column numbers.


4. When the citation of a primary source is followed by citation of a secondary source, this always means that one can find there more detail and analysis, and often means that that secondary source made me aware of the primary document in the first place.


5. Some citations are of a secondary source only. Others give the secondary source but add ‘citing ____’, meaning one of two things. Either I did not find the point important enough to warrant a time-consuming verification of the reference, or I couldn’t find the cited primary source (usually within the National Archives). I welcome readers’ help in finding the original sources.


I of course do not know what documents, if any, the U.K. Government has either destroyed or holds away from public view at Hanslope Park – or what Cabinet deliberations were deliberately not even minuted.1


As for the spelling – the transliteration – of Arabic names and words, in line with my idea of English readability my rendering is both arbitrary and almost always without diacritical marks. Accepting the advice of some Arabic-speaking friends I write for instance ‘Husseini’ rather than ‘Husayni’, ‘Awni’ rather than ‘Auni’, and ‘Moslem’ rather than ‘Muslim’ – just to give three examples. When an Arabic name or word (e.g. ‘Muslim’) is within a quotation I sometimes change it to my usual spelling, sometimes not; otherwise, I try to use one spelling only in order to ease searches within the electronic versions.


In this book Palestine refers to the territory congruent with Mandate Palestine and with today’s West Bank, Israel and Gaza Strip – between the river and the sea. Its surface area is about 2,600,000 hectares (ha.). South Africa, by comparison, covers 122,000,000 ha., while England, Scotland and Wales together cover 10,081,200 and Wales alone 2,073,500 ha. The Gaza Strip covers 36,500 ha. 1 hectare = 10 dunums.


Although putting images into one’s brain alongside words and fantasies is essential, I show no photographs. Almost all interesting related photos are accessible online. Sites such as Palestinian Journeys, Palestine Remembered, Palestine Photo Project or the British Mandate Jerusalemites Photo Library are rich in pictures. No source, though, is superior to Walid Khalidi’s Before Their Diaspora, a chronological collection of 427 pictures from the same time period and often of the same people, events and places.2 (It also contains eighteen pages chronologically recording events.)


As sources of knowledge, as well as for their inspiration, the works of post-Nakba Palestinian historians, many of them relatively unknown, are invaluable. For me researching this book has meant getting to know better, through the written word, the feelings and views of Palestinians; they and their words and deeds have enriched my privileged life.


The book is dedicated to the great majority of Palestinians, namely those who have been imprisoned, exiled, wounded, insulted, robbed, driven crazy and ignored. It is also dedicated to those who died and will die for Palestine.


If the book clarifies Mandate history, it might contribute to the reclamation of a reunited Palestine to which any Palestinian could return as a citizen of the democratic state of Palestine and regain ownership of their land, other property, and the polity governing Palestine.





1 See Cobain 2016, pp 112-15, 141, 143, 148-49.


2 Khalidi 1984.









I. Before the Balfour Declaration


What was the historical context of Britain’s takeover of Palestine in order to help realise the Zionist vision? I sketch it in my first 15 entries, of which the most important are: number 4, lining up the Arab opponents of Zionism; number 8, revealing the plan for the realisation of Zionism penned by British politician Herbert Samuel; and number 15, collecting the thoughts of Zionism’s only powerful opponent, British politician Lord George Curzon.


The establishment of a Jewish colony in Syria and Palestine had been mooted off and on during the 19th century. According to anti-Zionist Jewish Briton Lucien Wolf two very early examples were Napoleon’s idea in 1798 of a small Jewish state in Palestine and the talks on that project in 1841/1842 between Britain’s Consul in Damascus, Charles Henry Churchill, and British-Jewish leader Moses Montefiore.3 In 1919 Wolf wrote:




Until the Zionist movement was founded twenty years ago there was scarcely any symptom of a Jewish desire for international action on their behalf in the Palestine question. This was not for want of opportunity or even for want of suggestion from others. In 1840, when Mehemet Ali was driven out of Palestine and Syria by the Powers, the future of Palestine was open for discussion. … [U]ntil the time of Herzl all the most prominent protagonists of Zionism were Christians.4





On the topic of early British support for the idea of using Palestine as a place for settling European Jews, Abdul-Wahhab Said Kayyali has written a useful survey relying, inter alia, on Theodor Herzl’s Diaries.5 (Kayyali, whose 1978 history is required reading, was assassinated in Beirut in December 1981.) The next major political initiatives, for the understanding of which Herzl’s Der Judenstaat (The Jewish State) is essential reading,6 would be the Zionist Congresses starting in 1897, Herbert Samuel’s 1914/15 vision of Zionism in Palestine which he sent to his fellow Cabinet members [>8], and the 1917 Balfour Declaration [>16].


The pattern for native (indigenous) statements opposing Zionism, many recorded in this chronology, was set as of around 1880 by Arabs in Beirut who called for independence from the Ottoman Empire for Iraq, Egypt, and Syria, ‘Syria’ meaning the areas today identified as Lebanon, Syria, historic Palestine, and Jordan. Both George Antonius7 and Abdelaziz A. Ayyad8 provide histories of this formative period of the Arab and Palestinian independence movements, the steady theme of simple independence entailing opposition to British-Jewish plans for a Zionist entity on the Eastern Mediterranean coast. Another critical overview of early historical writings on Palestine starting during the Ottoman period all the way up to the 1980s, categorised into the genres of ‘Call to Battle’ and ‘Affirmation of Identity’ and dealing with many of the secondary sources I have used, is given in a short work by Beshara B. Doumani.9 My first entry bears the date 1899.


Walid Khalidi writes this about the Palestine of farmers, artisans, businessmen, civil servants and professionals around the beginning of the 20th century:




The Palestinians, both Christian and Muslim, formed a proud and vibrant community that had already crossed the threshold of an intellectual and national renaissance. They shared and reflected the cultural and political values of the neighboring Arab metropolitan centers. For centuries they had had trade links with Europe and contact with Europeans who came as Christian pilgrims to the Holy Land. For decades they had been exposed to modernizing influences as a result of the educational and medical work of European and American Christian missions. Service in the European and Asian provinces of the Ottoman Empire had widened their horizons. The Palestinians were as deeply entrenched in their country on the eve of the Zionist venture as any citizenry or peasantry anywhere.10








3 Wolf 1919, pp 102-07, 119-22.


4 Wolf 1919, pp 102-03.


5 Kayyali 1977.


6 Herzl 1896.


7 Antonius 1938, pp 42-55, 79-100.


8 Ayyad 1999, Ch. 2.


9 Doumani 1992.


10 Khalidi 1984, p 33.









1. Yusuf Diya to Rabbi Zadoc 1 March 1899


Thus, Arabs wishing independence from the Ottoman Empire were active before the Young Turk reform of 1908, before the start of organised Zionism in 1897, and even before the start of Jewish colonisation around 1881.11 Butrus al-Bustani for instance, in addition to publishing an Arabic dictionary and seven volumes of an encyclopaedia, founded the newspaper Nafir Suriyya already in 1860 and the fortnightly journal al-Jinan in 1870, both with Arab nationalist content.12 George Antonius dates the beginning of the “Arab national movement” in the years between 1857 and 1868 with the founding of secret societies whose nationalist placards appeared in the 1870s and 1880s, while its “first organised effort” was started in 1875 by five young Christians “who had been educated at the Syrian Protestant College in Bairut”; Antonius’s father-in-law Faris Nimr Pasha, the Lebanese owner of al-Muqtataf newspaper in Cairo [>4], could later name from memory the 22 activists who pasted those placards.13 First among these groups was the Syrian Scientific Society:




Begun by Christians, it soon included around 150 patriots of all religions, and later people living in Constantinople and Cairo, ‘united… in an active partnership for a common end. … [I]t was the cradle of a new political movement’.14





These activists also demanded official use of Arabic, freedom of expression and a local rather than an Ottoman military.15


Ahmed Urabi’s near-successful unyoking of British rule over Egypt in the early 1880s, according to letters from British travellers to the British Ambassador in Constantinople, evoked “strong sympathy with Arabi [Urabi]” in Syria and amongst “the whole Mussulman sect.”16 Urabi’s arrest by the British had triggered “riots and excitement in Jerusalem and Jaffa.”17 Against this background of Syrian, and more specifically Palestinian, desire for self-rule, the sale of land to Zionists was seen as a tangible long-term threat to their eventual sovereignty18, and accordingly protests against displacement by the new landowners started already in 1886, leading to an official petition of complaint from Palestinians to Ottoman authorities in 189119. In 1897 an Arab committee in Jerusalem in fact achieved a several-year ban on such sales.20


One Palestinian who perceived and objected to the threat of colonisation, not from Ottomans or privileged Western powers but from Europeans desiring a Jewish state in Palestine, was Jerusalem Mayor Yusuf al-Khalidi. To Zadoc Kahn, Chief Rabbi of France, al-Khalidi on 1 March 1899 sent a letter containing both fulsome praise of Jews and his opinion on Zionist policy:




In theory, Zionism is an absolutely natural and just idea on how to solve the Jewish question. Yet it is impossible to overlook the actual reality, which must be taken into account. Palestine is an integral part of the Ottoman Empire and today it is inhabited by non-Jews. … By what right do the Jews want it for themselves? … The only way to take it is by force using cannons and warships. … Even if Herzl obtained the approval of the Sultan Abdülhamit II for the Zionist plan, he should not think that a day will come when Zionists will become masters of this country. It is therefore necessary, to ensure the safety of the Jews in the Ottoman Empire, that the Zionist Movement, in the geographic sense of the word, stops. … Good Lord, the world is vast enough, there are still uninhabited countries where one could settle millions of poor Jews who may perhaps become happy there and one day constitute a nation. … But in the name of God, let Palestine be left in peace.21





Crucially, this letter detached the Jewish question from Palestine: Why Palestine, where Palestinians already lived? It also captured the essence of the Palestine disaster by denying Jewish claims to ownership of Palestine and foreseeing bloodshed for 123 years and counting. Al-Khalidi’s original letter to Kahn, to be sure, also contained the following passage:




Who can challenge the rights of the Jews in Palestine? Good Lord, historically it is really your country.





Rashid Khalidi however points out that it is illegitimate to quote this passage out of context, the context being the passages already quoted above.22





11 Antonius 1938, pp 25-90; Barbour 1946, pp 44-87; Tibawi 1969; Mandel 1976; Said 1979, pp 7-22, 94-97; Hourani 1991, pp 270-324, passim; Muslih 1988; Seikaly 1995, pp 17-39; Smith 1996, pp 1-51; Khalidi 1997, pp 35-144; Ayyad 1999; Pappe 2004, pp 14-40; Beška 2007; 2016; Hammond 2009; Abu-Manneh 2011; Campos 2011; Fishman 2011; Jacobson 2011.


12 Abu-Manneh 1980, p 293; Antonius 1938, pp 47-51; Jeffries 1939, p 26.


13 Antonius 1938, pp 79-81.


14 Antonius 1938, p 53.


15 Antonius 1938, pp 53-54, 79-89, 108-10, 119; Kayyali 1978, pp 14-15; Ayyad 1999, pp 33-41.


16 FO 226/204, dispatches of 23 September and 10 October 1882.


17 Kayyali 1978, p 15, citing FO 226/204.


18 Mandel 1976, pp 102-07, 132; Kayyali 1978, pp 17-18.


19 Mandel 1976, pp 39-40; Kayyali 1978, p 17; Suárez 2016, p 29.


20 Mandel 1976, p 55; Kayyali 1978, p 17; Smith 1996, p 34; Beška 2007, pp 24-26.


21 Beška 2007, pp 28-29; also Khalidi 1997, p 75, citing Manna‘, A‘lam Filastin, p 160.


22 Khalidi 2020, pp 4-5.









2. Nejib Azouri’s Réveil de la Nation 1905


Following an article in al-Manar by Rashid Rida in 1902 warning of Jewish aims for sovereignty in Palestine, in 1905 Nejib Azouri, a Maronite Catholic who founded the Ligue de la Patrie Arabe in Paris23, wrote a book, Réveil de la Nation Arabe dans l’Asie Turque, in which he predicted war between Jews and Arabs for control of Palestine and called for independence from the Ottomans:




There is nothing more liberal than the [Ligue de la Patrie Arabe’s] program. The league wants, before anything else, to separate the civil and the religious power, in the interest of Islam and the Arab nation, and to form an Arab empire stretching from the Tigris and the Euphrates to the Suez Isthmus, and from the Mediterranean to the Arabian Sea. … The mode of government will be a constitutional sultanate based on the freedom of all the religions and the equality of all the citizens before the law.24





His vision was of the unity of Greater Syria and Iraq, governed “constitutionally”.


Prophetically, he observed:




Two important phenomena, of the same nature, but opposed, are emerging at this moment in Asiatic Turkey. They are the awakening of the Arab nation and the latent effort of the Jews to reconstitute on a very large scale the ancient kingdom of Israel. These movements are destined to fight each other continually until one of them wins.25





Blocking the publication and sale of Azouri’s book-length plea for an independent, equal rights-based country were the Ottomans, British, French and Zionists. Azouri himself was sentenced by Sultan Abdul Hamid to death for treason. Other banned books suggesting “a repressed or gurgling scream” for independence, according to Anbara Salam Khalidi, were Abdulrahman al-Kawakibi’s Umm al-Qura and Tabai al-Istihdad (Mother of Cities and Characteristics of Tyranny).26


11 August 1905 [The movement of Jews and other so-called ‘undesirable immigrants’ from Eastern Europe (mainly) to Britain is drastically curtailed by the U.K. Aliens Act.]


2 April 1906 [In South Africa, twelve rebels caught during the Bambatha Rebellion are executed in Natal with the approval of Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies Winston Churchill.]27





23 Also Robson 2011, pp 27-29.


24 Laqueur & Rubin 1984, p 5; also Smith 1996, p 35; Khalidi 1997, p 28; Beška 2007, pp 40-43.


25 Quoted by Alam 2009, p 31.


26 Khalidi 1978, p 36.


27 Ngcukaitobi 2018, pp 91-92.









3. A Report to Prime Minister Campbell-Bannerman 1907


Very often cited by Arab researchers, but not for instance by Lucien Wolf (1919), an anonymous report dated 1907 purportedly contained the advice to His Majesty’s Government (HMG) to establish an anti-Arab, pro-Western state in or around Palestine in order to protect UK interests. Like part of Herbert Samuel’s seminal 1915 pro-Zionist paper to the Cabinet [>8], it is said to have argued not only from Jewish, but explicitly from British, self-interest. To what extent Arabs and the British were at loggerheads in the first place during this time period, by the way, is a question needing some unorthodox research.


According to Palestinian researchers Anis Sayegh and Mohsen Mohammad Saleh, however, nobody has ever seen this report, allegedly written by “a secret ‘colonial conference’… held in London in 1905-07, at the initiative of the British Conservative Party” and sent to Prime Minister Henry Campbell-Bannerman.28 In addition to its widespread mention in the literature, the two reasons for nevertheless mentioning it here are 1) that what it purportedly proposed actually happened, in the form namely of the Balfour Declaration of 2 November 1917 [>16], and 2) that it was employing the dubious argument that a non-Arab or even anti-Arab entity in Palestine would be in Britain’s imperial, colonial or economic interest. With or without this document, it is in any case at least possible that the general topic was explicitly discussed within the UK Government a full ten years before the Balfour Declaration. Partly because the UK’s Public Records Office, now its National Archives, has been known to hide or destroy documents, and because other documents were for decades officially suppressed, e.g. papers pertaining to the McMahon-Hussein correspondence [>10], the Sykes-Picot pact [>12], the Hogarth message [>21], the King-Crane report [>59], the Palin report [>88], the Cavendish Committee report [>167], and High Commissioner Chancellor’s Memorandum [>218], it might be worth continuing the search for this phantom document.





28 Saleh 2017, use Search function.









4.* Associations, schools and newspapers 1897-1914


According to Benjamin Beit-Hallahmi, the Hebrew periodical Hashiloah “[d]uring the first decade of the twentieth century… published scores of articles dealing with the Arab national movement (using this exact term!)…”29 This national movement was necessarily against Zionism, whichever European powers militarily sponsored it. With the Young Turk liberalisation of 1908, many newspapers and commercial or political associations were founded by educated indigenous Ottoman citizens who understood and opposed Zionism, having followed its development at least since Herzl’s Der Judenstaat of 1896 and the Basel Zionist Congress of 1897. Moreover, the general ideal of self-determination was well-known to anyone; more concretely, a liberal, anti-colonial ideology had been adopted by many who had read the books and journals mentioned in the first two entries above [>1; >2] and/or belonged to one of the secret nationalist societies.


Many nationalists had attended one of the US-American Protestant high schools such as the Syrian Protestant College in Beirut or Robert College in Istanbul30, and/or one of the private schools with modern curricula operating as of around 1906, mainly in Jerusalem, including the Ottoman School founded in 189731. Libraries such as al-Maktaba al-Khalidiyya in Jerusalem and the Haziriyya Library in Damascus, as well, contain or contained writings on Arab nationalism and Zionism.32 The view that it was only in hindsight that indigenous Arabs realised that a European settler-colonial project was in store for them33 is not supported by the evidence. Palestinian Mohamed Osman wrote to Churchill from Port Said already on 9 April 1921 identifying this specifically settler-colonialism. [>101] According to John Quigley, in fact, “As early as 1891 Zionist leader Ahad Ha’am wrote that the Arabs ‘understand very well what we are doing and what we are aiming at.’”34


Based on a handful of secondary scholarly and eyewitness works,35 here is a list of some key politicians and journalists (with their journals in parentheses), some of them Ottoman parliamentarians, who kept tabs on the growing Zionist movement:




Sheikh Ahmad Tabbara (al-Ittihad al-Uthmani); Kamal Abbas (al-Haqiqa); the Bustani and Zazigi families; Muhammad Tahir al-Husseini, Said al-Husseini and others from that family;36 Daud Barakat (al-Ahram); Yusuf al-Khalidi and Ruhi al-Khalidi;37 Rashid Rida (al-Manar); Emir Amin Arslan; Hafiz Bey al-Said, Ahmed Riza, Ahmad al-Arif and Mohammad al-Shanti (al-Iqdam – all hanged by the Ottomans in May 1916 in Beirut along with Ali Umar Nashashibi); Najib (Nejib) Azouri [>2]; Aref al-Aref (Suriyya al-Janubiyya); Muhammad Hassan al-Budayri; Khalil al-Sakakini;38 Najib Nassar (al-Karmil);39 Shukri al-Asali;40 Muhammad Kurd Ali (al-Muqtaba); Jamal al-Din al-Afghani; Salim Ali Salam; Issa al-Issa and Yusuf al-Issa (Filistin, al-Asmai);41 Faris Nimr (al-Muqtataf and al-Muqattam, father of Katy, George Antonius’s wife42); Muhammad Musa al-Maghribi (al-Munadi); Fares al-Khoury; Awni Abdul Hadi (al-Muntada al-Adabi); Rafiq Bey al-Azem and Haqqi Bey al-Azem; Ibrahim Najjar; Faidi Alami (Musa’s father and Jerusalem Mayor 1906-09); and Tahir al-Jazairi.





Rashid Khalidi gives an analysis of the content of ten newspapers which sprung up after the 1908 liberalisation, all with information and opinion critical of Zionism – five in Beirut, two in Cairo and one each in Haifa, Yaffa, and Damascus.43


Mustafa Kabha provides a list of approximately 50 newspapers which appeared starting before World War I and up until 1939; his Index gives the page numbers, for each paper, on the topic ‘British Mandate’. Some were handwritten, some were owned and written by Moslems, some by Christians, some were close to either the Palestine Arab Congress and its Arab Executive Committees, some close to political parties, some independent, and virtually all were anti-Zionist (whatever their positions on how closely to work with the Mandatory). As of October 1919 the British usually allowed censorship-free freedom to publish.44


Early political groups that saw the prospects for Arab freedom actually diminish under the Young Turks45 included Al-Ikhaa Al-Arabi (Arabic Brotherhood); Hizb Al-‘Ard (Party of the Land); Al-Fatat (Youth Society); Al-Lamarkaziyeh; Hizb Al-Islah (Arab Reform Party); al-Muntada al-Adabi (The Literary Association, or Club, founded in Istanbul in 1908 or 1909 and present in Haifa as of 1911); the Nablus Committee (1913); the Palestine Chamber of Commerce; and by 1914 al-Jamiyya al-Khayriyya al-Islamiyya (Islamic Society of Khayriyya), Jamiyyat al-Ikha wal Afaf (Association of Brotherhood and Purity), Shirkat al-Iqtisad al-Falastini al-Arabi, and Shirkat al-Tijara al-Wataniyya al-Iqtisadiyya (Arab Palestinian Economic Association).46 Somewhat later many Young Men’s Moslem Associations would arise.47


The Society for Resisting the Zionists at al-Azhar University in Cairo declared it would “oppose the Zionists by all possible means”, while on 7 July 1914 the newspaper al-Iqdam published a “summons” asking “Do you wish to be slaves to the Zionists who have come to kick you out of your country, claiming that it is theirs?”48 Feminist ideas in Egypt, Lebanon and Palestine were put into words by Malad Hifni Nasif, May Ziadeh and Zaynab Fawwaz.49 The roles of local Arabic-speaking Sephardic Jews, by the way, such as Shimon and Esther Moyal, Nissim Malul and Albert Antébi, were anti-Ottoman but ambiguous and ultimately pro-Zionist, in general embracing a ‘political parity’ vision – that is, Palestinian-Jewish co-ownership of Palestine.50


Again, politically-minded Arabs had read Herzl’s 1896 book, followed the World Zionist Congresses51, read newspaper reports from Cairo and Beirut of further Zionist meetings52, and read proclamations of political intent by Max Nordau, Menachem Ussishkin, Arthur Ruppin and others; and by 1901 many peasants as well as members of the educated class knew of Zionism’s plan to turn Palestine into a Jewish state53. Works by Zionists were moreover published in Arabic: for instance, first in al-Karmil and later as a book, Najib Nassar translated into Arabic and commented upon the entry on Zionism in the Jewish Encyclopedia, and Issa al-Issa, in his newspaper Filistin, in 1914 translated parts of Ussishkin’s Our Program.54 1911 saw the organisation of strong anti-Zionist activity in Jaffa55, and in January 1912 Shimon Moyal perceived a “spirit of enmity [that began] to gain a foothold among the masses because of the influence of the antagonistic press”56. Emanuel Beška shows that even before the 1908 liberalisation of the press the anti-Zionist nationalism of people such as Muhammad Tahir al-Husseini, Yusuf al-Khalidi, Emir Amin Arslan, Rashid Rida, and Nejib Azouri “laid a solid basis for those who succeeded them”.57 Well before 1914, that is, had emerged “the embryo of the Palestinian demand for self-government and self-determination.”58


Lebanese-born Najib Nassar in 1911 published the 65-page book in Arabic Zionism: Its History, Aims and Importance, identifying Zionism as “a racist movement that aims to replace the Palestinians in the Holy Land”, which to my knowledge has never been published in English.59 Nassar himself lived in Tiberias and Haifa, where in 1908 he founded the newspaper Al Karmil; he also aided the founding of a Palestinian nationalist student society in Beirut (al-Shabiba al-Nabulsiyya) as well as a “mixed Muslim and Christian society in Haifa called al-Muntada al-Adabi (The Literary Association), whose objectives were openly nationalist and secretly anti-Zionist.”60


According to Anbara Khalidi, in 1913-14 there were as well




attempts made to draw attention to [the] danger… of Zionist activities … at a time when most writers were preoccupied with the question of Arab rights. I recall that the newspapers of 1913 and 1914 would make direct references to the ambitions of Zionism and its methods. Thus, over a number of days, the newspaper al-Mufid published editorials by Dr Muhammad Mahmasani (who had obtained a doctorate in law from the Sorbonne and who was one of the martyrs hanged in August 1915 [the first ‘convoy’ of hangings, the second occurring on 6 May 1916]) treating the issue of Zionism… He uncovered the activities of its agents and representatives [amongst the Arab community] in buying land from farmers at very tempting prices, and in establishing a Jewish foothold in the country by all devious means possible.61





The Balfour Declaration a few years later was not a surprise for many affected people.


1908 The Palestinian journal Al-Carmel [Al-Karmil] is founded in Haifa by Najib Nassar to oppose Zionist colonization.


1908 Palestinian deputies from Jerusalem, Jaffa, Nablus and Acre, elected to the Ottoman parliament in Constantinople, warn against the ‘Judaification’ of the country.


16 March 1908 Clashes between Palestinians and Zionist immigrants in Jaffa result in one Palestinian dead and 13 Jews wounded.


1908 Al-Muqtabas, a Damascus-based newspaper, is founded. Under editor Mohammed Kurd Ali the newspaper is to become influential and join the campaign against Zionism.


4 December 1908 Al-Ahram, the Egyptian newspaper, calls on the Jews to renounce their foreign citizenship and to become loyal Ottoman citizens. Furthermore, the newspaper cautions that should the Jews be allowed to concentrate in large numbers in one territory, they might be encouraged to establish a state of their own.


March 1909 Najib Nassar criticizes the Arabs who emigrate from Palestine in Al-Carmel. In the same year Al-Carmel is closed down twice due to its anti-Zionist stance.


early June 1909 Hafez Bey As-Said, a Deputy from Jaffa, inquires at the Ottoman Chamber if Zionism is compatible with the interests of the Empire and demands that Jaffa seaport be closed to Jewish immigrants. This marks the first time that the Zionist issue is raised in the Ottoman Parliament.


1909 Al-Mufid, a representative newspaper that advocates the cause of Arabism, is founded in Beirut by Abdul Ghani Al-Uraysi and Fuad Hantas. Soon to become an influential daily, Al-Mufid strongly opposes Zionism and condemns Arab landlords who sell their land to Zionists.


July 1909 Five members of the Ottoman Parliament, including a Palestinian Deputy from Jerusalem, meet with British Zionist leader Sir Francis Montefiore in London to voice their concern about the political objectives of Zionism.


1910 Najib Nassar, editor of Al-Carmel, is instrumental in setting up an association in Haifa ‘to take forceful steps to persuade the government to prohibit the sale of land to the Jews’; he organizes an anti-Zionist conference in Nablus.


March-April 1910 In Constantinople, Arab deputies, especially Ruhi Bey Al-Khalidi, lead a campaign for new legislation against Jewish immigration into Palestine.
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5. Ottoman Parliamentarians speak 1909-1914


In the Parliament elections of 1896, 1908, 1912 and 1914 fourteen different Palestinians were sent to Istanbul to represent the districts of Jerusalem, Jaffa, Nablus, Acre and Gaza: Yusuf Dia al-Khalidi, Ruhi al-Khalidi, Saeed el-Husseini, Hafez al-Saeed, Ahmad al-Khamash, Asad al-Shukayri, Othman Nashashibi, Ahmad Arif el-Husseini, Haidar Tuqan, Ragheb Nashashibi, Faidi al-Alami, Tawfiq Hamad, Amin Abdul Hadi and Abdul Fatah al-Saadi.62


In an interview with the Hebrew newspaper ha-Zevi on 1 November 1909, Palestinian Member of the Ottoman Parliament Ruhi al-Khalidi




expressed concern that Zionist colonization would inevitably lead to the expulsion of Arabs from the places they had inhabited for centuries. He did not forget to evoke historical circumstances and the fact that it was not the Arabs who had [some 1900 years earlier] driven the Jews out of Palestine.63





Similarly, it was not the Arabs who were persecuting Jews in Europe.


The Zionist threat was well-grasped:




On 16 May 1910 Azmi Bey, the new Mutasarrif of Jerusalem, wrote: ‘We are not xenophobes; we welcome all strangers. We are not anti-Semites; we value the economic superiority of the Jews. But no nation, no government could open its arms to groups making proclamations everywhere and aiming to take Palestine from us. The political domination of the Jews in this country belongs to the realm of childish dreams, but as long as they even talk about it, we shall not tolerate their economic advancement. Were they to abandon these utopias and give proof of their Ottomanism, then all these difficulties and restrictions would fall away like magic.’64





This was an early example of the theme that for Palestinians, opposition to Zionism did not mean opposition to Jews, nor to immigrants (“strangers”) who came with no political program of eventual domination by their ethno-religious group; the issue for these intellectuals and political activists was political self-determination.


When issues concerning Palestine and Zionism – in particular land sales – arose in parliament MP Ruhi al-Khalidi spoke at length in the following manner against Zionism:




The Jews are a great people and the country benefits from their expertise, wealth, schools and knowledge, but they should settle in other parts of the Empire and should acquire Ottoman nationality. … Just as I am an anti-Zionist, I am not an anti-Semite, which is proved by the letters sent here by the rabbi of Izmir and other rabbis who oppose Zionism. … The Zionists’ aim, […] is to settle numerous Jews in Iraq and Syria to form a Jewish kingdom having Jerusalem as its centre. … [I oppose] this Zionist danger that endangers Palestine in particular.65





MPs Said Husseini and As-Shukri al-Asali also spoke up66, the latter saying in a long speech that was printed in full on 31 May 1911 by the Damascus newspaper Al-Muqtabas:




One of the essential decisions of the Zionists is to take possession of the Palestinian land by purchase before any other activity and subsequently the transition from political intentions to their materialization. They have pursued this plan and have begun to acquire lands by paying several times the value of the land, evoking the desire of the owners to sell [it]. They do not enter a village as long as one Muslim or Christian remains in it and they try to drive them out of it and then they arrive in it and in this manner the village becomes Jewish. There are no members of other nationalities and its owners keep their foreign citizenship.67





“The Zionists,” said al-Asali, “came to Palestine ‘solely to expel the poor Arab peasants from their land, and to set up their own government.’”68 He added, “I am young and my soul desires high positions, but you can be sure that I prefer suspension from my office and losing my future to agreeing with the sale of my homeland to the enemy of my nation and my state.”69 This man indeed “lost his future” on 6 May, 1916, when he was executed in Marjeh Square in his hometown of Damascus by Ottoman ruler Jamal Pasha.70 Jamal as Jerusalem Military governor also charged Aref Al-Husseini, the Mufti of Gaza, and his son Mustafa with conspiracy and hanged them outside Jaffa Gate.71


The MPs from Palestine demanded a blocking of Jewish immigration and in answer to a Jewish boycott of the Arab economy they called for a boycott of Jewish goods. During the 1914 elections, candidates Said Husseini, Ragheb Nashashibi and Salim Husseini spoke against Zionism in principle, as did many others such as Khalil al-Sakakini, Faydi Alami and Jamal al-Husseini.72


Non-Palestinian MPs also spoke out:




Ismail Hakki Bey declared [on 27 February 1911] that the Zionist aim was to found a Jewish state in Palestine once a Jewish majority was achieved there… When he quoted some recent Zionist resolutions, Tâlat Bey interrupted to remark that the Zionist Congress was not a secret. … Halil Bey, Minister of the Interior, in 1911 said, ‘Regarding Jewish immigration, it is the exclusive choice of Palestine which gives rise to doubts.’73





Halil Bey’s point was that had the desire of many Jews to leave Europe not been tied to a cultural-religious political program, they might well have opted to make their colonies in East Africa or Argentina.


At any rate the public record showed no indigenous support for Zionism, in fact the opposite:




[I]n May 1911 the Palestinian reformist Sulayman al-Taji al-Farouqui issued the following premonitory warning, so amazing for a people which some say at that time had no awareness of its national identity: ‘Zionism is the danger menacing our homeland … It heralds our exile and our expulsion from our homes and our properties!’74





One central document is a manuscript in the al-Khalidiya Library in Jerusalem which MP Ruhi al-Khalidi for some reason did not publish before his death in 1913, entitled As-Siyunizm aw al-mas’ala as-sahyuniya (Zionism, or the Zionist Question); to date there is to my knowledge no English translation.75 The book evidently reported on the Zionist Congresses, distinguished between Zionist and non-Zionist Jews, and Dr. Ruhi “provided his readers with a list of all the Jewish colonies, the area of each colony, its original name in Arabic, and from whom the land was bought.”76


8 January 1911 The South African Native National Congress is formed (soon to be renamed the African National Congress, ANC).


January 1911 ‘The sale of al-Fūla by Iliyās Sursuq to the Zionists can be undoubtedly labelled as the most important event that formed the attitude of Arab public opinion towards Zionism prior to World War I. In January 1911 the affair was closed and the village al-Fūla was replaced by the Jewish settlement of Merhavia.’77


1911 After the guardian of the Abu Madyan Waqf (the Mughrabi Quarter) complains that Jews have placed chairs on the pavement before the Western Wall, the Administrative Council of Jerusalem… decides that it is not permissible to place there any articles which could be ‘considered as indications of ownership.’ [also >198; >199; >202; >245]


19 August 1911 Ottoman National Party head Suleiman At-Taji Al-Farouqi writes in the Beirut newspaper Al-Mufid that Zionism in Palestine is becoming a government within a government with its own laws, courts, flag, school system etc. and that Palestinians are threatened with poverty and eviction in the face of wealthy and educated Jewish immigrants.


14 November 1911 Al-Jamiyya Al-Arabiyya Al-Fatat (The Young Arab Society) is officially founded by a group of Muslim Arabs… in Paris, among them Awni Abdul Hadi and Rafiq At-Tamimi. The main aim is to work for the administrative independence of the Arab lands from Ottoman rule, and to ‘raise the Arab umma to the level of living nations’78


8 February 1912 Al-Mounadi weekly newspaper, owned by Said Jarallah and edited by Mohammed Musa Moghrabi, is launched with the aim of confronting Zionist politics.


1912 A young Arab, Maruf Al-Arnaut, writes the first fictional work in Arabic about Zionism: The Maid of Zion.


April 1912 Five Palestinian Deputies from Jerusalem, Gaza, Nablus, and Acre are elected to the Ottoman Parliament.


September 1912 Arab students from Palestine establish the Al-Alam Al-Akhdar (The Green Flag) society in Constantinople. … Among the founders are Bassem Bseiso, Mustafa Al-Husseini and Shukri Gushih. The society issues the journal Lisan Al-Arab.


3 January 1913 An Al-Carmel editorial assesses four years of efforts in fighting Zionism praising some Deputies like Shukri Al-Assali and Ruhi Khalidi while attacking others who sold land while pretending to be nationalists.


18-23 June 1911 The 1st Arab National Congress meets in Paris, presided over by the Syrian Abdul Hamid Az-Zahrawi. The participants representing Iraq (2), Syria, Lebanon and Palestine (19) and Arabs living in the USA (3) stress provincial liberty, administrative autonomy of each Arab province, the adoption of Arabic as an official language, and democracy as the means for correcting the ‘decay’ of the endangered Ottoman Empire.


late July 1913 ‘At the end of July [1913], al-Karmil proposed that another Arab Congress be held, this time in Nablus, to discuss means of combatting the “Zionist threat”. The proposal was seconded in Falastin by a contributor from Nablus and backed by al-Mufid (Beirut) and al-Muqtabas (Damascus).’79


August 1913 In the wake of heightened local patriotism and in order to counter the 11th Zionist Congress, an anti-Zionist Arab Congress meets in Nablus and calls upon the Ottomans to put an end to selling land by open auction. Conferees include Abdul Fattah Tuqan, Kamil Hashim, Ibrahim Abdul Hadi, Hasan Hammad and Nimr An-Nabulsi.
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6. General Summons to the Palestinians 7 July 1914


A comprehensive tract, or “General Summons”, with the title ‘The Zionist Danger’ was printed in al-Karmil on 7 July 1914,80 just before international attention switched to World War I. It asked:




Do you wish to be slaves to the Zionists who have come to kick you out of your country, claiming that it is theirs?… Are you, Muslims, Palestinians, Syrians, Arabs, happy at this? (1) Apply pressure on the Government to act in accordance with its law stipulating that it is completely forbidden to sell miri (state) lands to foreigners. (2) Try to develop local (wataniyah) trade and industry. Do not trade except with your own people, as they (the Zionists) do because they do not trade with the Muslim and the Christian. (3) Do not sell them your lands and use your power to prevent the peasant from selling. Henceforth, scatter the land agents and revile them. (4) Be concerned to stop, by all means you can, the stream of migration from and to Palestine. (5) Demand of your awqaf to found Arab religious schools and also other schools for crafts, agriculture and science. (6) Trust in God and in yourselves; do not trust in the Government because it is occupied with other things. Strive that Arabic will be the language of instruction in schools. (7) You must implant in the hearts of the local population, especially the youth, love of agricultural work, of trade and industry.81





Beneath the “General Summons” Al-Karmil urged its readers: “You should not blame the Zionists as much as you should blame the leaders of your country and government officials who sell them lands and act as their brokers.”82 When the Palestinian newspaper Filastin propounded a similar fundamental anti-Zionist message the Ottoman government’s answer was to close it down for seven weeks starting on 20 April 1914.83


Such agitation in print had gone on for years. Two or three years earlier, for instance, 150 Arabs had sent a petition to newspapers and to the highest officials in Istanbul, concretely demanding an end to immigration and land sales; the same demands filled telegrams from Beisan political leaders to the regional government in Beirut.84 In 1911 the Ottoman National Party (al-Hizb al-Watani al-‘Uthmani) addressed a leaflet to the indigenous people:




Zionism is the danger which encompasses our homeland; [Zionism] is the awful wave which beats [our] shores; it is the source of the deceitful acts which we experience like a downpour and which are to be feared more than going alone at the dead of night. Not only this; it is also an omen of our future exile from our homeland and of (our) departure from our homes and property.85





The Palestinians foresaw “a fate… similar to that of the American Indians.”86 It is remarkable that “exile from our homeland” was foreseen so early. Palestinian women added their voices through the two societies Jam’iat al-Ihsan al-‘Am (Society for General Charity) and Jam’iat Yaqzat al-Fatat al-Arabiyya (Society for the Awakening of the Arab Girl).87


late March 1914 In an interview with Al-Iqdam Khalil Sakakini warns that the Zionist goal is to own Palestine and to divide Al-Ummah Al-Arabiyya.88


11 April 1914 Filastin reports on economic pressures exerted by the Zionist Anglo-Palestine Bank against Palestinian merchants who have signed an anti-Zionism protest telegram and are forced to withdraw their signatures before the bank lifts its boycott of them.


5 May 1914 Fata Al-Arab reports about a new Society for Resisting the Zionists (Jamiat Muqawamat Sahiyuniyin) founded by Palestinian students at Al-Azhar University.


27 July 1914 British troops invade Dublin and begin to disarm Irish rebels. [As Chief Secretary for Ireland 1887-1891, Arthur Balfour similarly repressed Irish nationalists.]


22 November 1914 Mohandas (Mahatma) Gandhi returns to India after 21 years in South Africa and begins a non-violent campaign against British rule.
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7. Kitchener & Storrs to Hussein late autumn 1914


War Secretary Herbert Kitchener on 24 September 1914 gave Ronald Storrs, Oriental Secretary in Cairo, the requested permission to offer Hejaz ruler Sharif Hussein and his son Abdullah money and protection against outside aggression in return for help against the Germans and their allies Ottoman Turkey. On 31 October Kitchener sent his greetings to Abdullah via Storrs and promised:




If Arab nation assist England in this war England will guarantee that no intervention takes place in Arabia and will give Arabs every assistance against external foreign aggression.89





We do not know if Kitchener would have regarded the British takeover of Palestine in 1917/1918 as “foreign aggression”, because he died at sea on 5 June 1916.


Whatever the northern boundaries of the “Arab nation” Kitchener referred to, and barring foreign aggression for instance by France or England itself, according to this promise, after Turkish/Ottoman departure, “Arabia” would be free. Hussein was equally interested in gaining the Caliphate, some control over Syria (which included Palestine, Transjordan and the Lebanon), and political/military independence.90 In December 1914, moreover, Storrs evidently offered the “natives of Arabia, Palestine, Syria and Mesopotamia”, as a reward for rebellion against Istanbul, British recognition of their independence and surely not British take-over.91


The promises given to Hussein by High Commissioner for Egypt Henry McMahon shortly thereafter, in 1915, for “independence of the Arab countries” [>10], may have gone beyond Kitchener’s offer, but these well-documented British promises do show that Britain was fully aware of Arab yearning for non-interference, a stance they would clearly express, for instance, in the Damascus Protocol [>9]. Kitchener himself seems to have favoured the independence of most or all of the Arab Near East.92 General Gilbert Clayton, who negotiated directly with the Arabs in Cairo, wrote drafts of McMahon’s letters to Sherif Hussein [>10] and served as Civil Secretary of Palestine under High Commissioner Herbert Samuel from 1922-25, was firmly on the side of Palestinians’ independence.93
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8.* Samuel’s ‘The Future of Palestine’ January 1915


Anglo-Zionism had for quite some time been strong in Manchester, advocated by figures including Herbert Sidebotham, Simon Marks, Israel Sieff, sometime-MP Arthur Balfour, Harry Sacher, Chaim Weizmann, Manchester Guardian editor C.P. Scott, and Winston Churchill, Manchester MP 1901-1908.94 In London it was Herbert Samuel, Cabinet member during 1909-1916, who had become dedicated to Zionism [>105; >429] and who in January 1915 circulated a memo within the Cabinet whose importance cannot be overestimated.95 Its title, ‘The Future of Palestine’, gave for the first time blunt expression by a top British politician of the intention to other-determine the future political nature of Palestine. It is the first British conceptual attack on Palestine’s people, assuming not only de facto ownership of the country, without consultation of the actual residents, but also granting some degree of political power to Jewish-Zionists who had immigrated, or would immigrate, into Palestine. It was almost identical with two other memos distributed by Samuel in November 1914 and March 1915. It was the opening salvo in Britain’s three decades-long war against the vast majority of the people living in Palestine.


It was Samuel, of all people, who would become the first High Commissioner of Palestine (1 July 1920 – 30 June 1925), but now, five years earlier, he wrote that he observed




a stirring among the twelve million Jews scattered throughout the countries of the world … for the restoration of the Jews to the land to which they are attached by ties almost as ancient as history itself. … Yet it is felt that the time is not ripe for the establishment there of an independent, autonomous Jewish State. … It is hoped also that Jewish immigration, carefully regulated, would be given preference so that in course of time the Jewish people, grown into a majority and settled in the land, may be conceded such degree of self-government as the conditions of that day may justify. (emphasis added)





Noteworthy is Samuel’s establishment of the historical connection of the Jews with Palestine as an argument for Jewish collective political rights in Palestine in the here-and-now – arguably the most important pillar of Zionist theory. And while the ontology of a “restoration” of people to a specific territory is not easy to grasp, whatever it means Samuel was careful to state that it was the Jews who should be “restored” to Palestine, rather than (all of) Palestine’s being restored to the Jews. Here Samuel’s formulation presaged the later debate over whether Britain should “reconstitute” Palestine as a Jewish national home or whether the Jewish nation should “reconstitute” itself in Palestine. [see within >16]


Closely tied to this distinction, Samuel was unabashed in saying that the Jewish “state” is only a matter of time. The Jewish “state” also follows logically from the future Jewish majority, a goal there is no attempt to disguise or hide. As diverse correspondence during the following three decades shows, this goal of a Jewish majority was given priority not only by Zionists but by the British Government. [e.g. >327; see Theme Index] Until the demographics were “ripe”, however, the “Jewish State” would have to bide its time. In another passage Samuel reiterated that his goal was “to realise the aspiration of a Jewish State”, but any attempt by Jews to govern an “Arab race” at a time when it was four or five times more numerous than the Jews would fail:




If the attempt were made to place the 400,000 or 500,000 Mahommedans of Arab race under a Government which rested upon the support of 90,000 or 100,000 Jewish inhabitants, there can be no assurance that such a Government, even if established by the authority of the Powers, would be able to command obedience. The dream of a Jewish State, prosperous, progressive, and the home of a brilliant civilisation, might vanish in a series of squalid conflicts with the Arab population.





Why such conflicts would be “squalid” I don’t know, but at any rate at this stage Samuel saw no need to employ the euphemism for this state used in the Balfour Declaration [>16], namely a “national home”.


According to Samuel the Jewish State offered a win-win-win-win situation, advantageous first of all to the indigenous:




It would enable England to fulfil in yet another sphere her historic part of civiliser of the backward countries. Under the Turk, Palestine has been blighted. For hundreds of years she has produced neither men nor things useful to the world.





Second, advantageous to Britain:




[With] Palestine in British hands … the mountainous character of the country would make its occupation by an enemy difficult, and while this outpost was being contested time would be given to allow the garrison of Egypt to be increased and the defences to be strengthened.





That is, Palestinians would become “useful” to Britain, providing a military-topographical asset. That this argument was wrong, by the way, was later attested by Abdul Latif Tibawi, who rejected Samuel’s claim that in Palestine ‘a large Jewish population was necessary for imperial reasons as a shield for Egypt’ by observing, “It never occurred to him that this could be done more effectively by the Arabs!”96


But never mind, thirdly it would be advantageous to world Jewry:




Far more important would be the effect upon the character of the larger part of the Jewish race who must still remain intermingled with other peoples… [Through] a Jewish centre in Palestine … the character of the individual Jew, wherever he might be, would be ennobled.





Samuel’s personal “intermingledness” with Britons, sitting in the Cabinet, evidently did not deliver the desired degree of “ennoblement”.


Fourth, advantageous to the world itself:


The Jewish brain is a physiological product not to be despised. … If a body be again given in which its soul can lodge, it may again enrich the world. Till full scope is granted, as Macaulay said in the House of Commons, ‘let us not presume to say that there is no genius among the countrymen of Isaiah, no heroism among the descendants of the Maccabees.’


Palestine was to be the “body” for this particular ethno-religious category of human beings. Samuel would again use this philo-semitic language, praising Jews as a race superior to Arabs, in a major House of Commons debate on 17 November 1930 [>242] as would his friend Lord Melchett (Henry Mond) in a major House of Lords debate on 26 February 1936 [>289].


In late March 1921, remarkably, Samuel’s intimate collaborator Winston Churchill, having just become Colonial Secretary, would assert the same four ‘goods’ of Zionism when talking with the natives in Jerusalem: “We think it is good for the world, good for the Jews, good for the British Empire; and it is also good for the Arabs dwelling in Palestine…”.97 [>100] The two men’s ideological closeness would also be manifested in the tract they co-authored in early 1922 along with top-ranking Colonial Office civil servant Sir John Shuckburgh, which became HMG’s ‘Churchill’ White Paper of 3 June 1922. [>133; >142]


From Samuel’s and Zionism’s point of view,




I am assured that the solution of the problem of Palestine which would be much the most welcome to the leaders and supporters of the Zionist movement throughout the world would be the annexation of the country to the British Empire.





This was perhaps the first of many times during the 20th century that the phrase “the problem of Palestine” was used. But why, and for whom, was it a “problem”? For the Palestinians, Palestine was not a “problem”.


The first and fourth points – that only European Zionist Jews, backed by capital, could materially turn a poor backward country into an affluent progressive one – would during the next thirty years be routinely used as an anti-Palestinian argument – from Colonial Secretary Victor Cavendish’s report to the Cabinet in 1923 [>125] through the Peel Commission report of 1937 [>336] to the deliberations of the UN Special Committee on Palestine in 1947 [>465ff], as well as in all debates in the Houses of Parliament.98 The constant Palestinian answer to this ubiquitous argument, here newly formulated by Samuel, would by the way be correctly identified by the 1946 Anglo-American Committee of Inquiry [>438] when it wrote:




The Peel Commission took the view that the enterprise of the Jews in agriculture and industry had brought large, if indirect, benefits to the Arabs in raising their standard of living. … [However] in any event the Arabs declare that, if they must choose between freedom and material improvement, they prefer freedom.99





Material benefits or not, that is, no thanks, we’d rather do things ourselves. Samuel’s stage-setting view, however, which through his person as the key British Zionist would steer His Majesty’s Government’s behaviour towards a Jewish-majority state, did not include such questions of freedom and dignity which were among the political and spiritual, as opposed to the economic, aspects of the conflict.


Herzl’s Der Judenstaat and the proceedings of eleven World Zionist Organization (WZO) Congresses starting in 1897 were by 1915 well-known, but now a wealthy and elite Cabinet member, supported by the group of Mancunians mentioned above as well as by elite personages such as Lord Haldane, the Marquess of Crewe, Lord Lionel Walter Rothschild and soon-to-be Prime Minister David Lloyd George, was straightforwardly calling on the most powerful country in the world to slowly render self-government impossible for the inferior indigenous “Arab race”.100


According to Britain’s ‘Arab Bureau’ in Cairo, another pamphlet appearing in the U.K. “in early 1915”, with the title ‘Palestine and the Jews’ and issued by the English Zionist Federation, was written by “S”, meaning “either [Harry] Sacher or [Leon] Simon”, but it could have meant Samuel, seeing as it held that:




The Jewish land is Palestine; the Jewish language is Hebrew. Palestine is the Jewish land because whatever national life the Jewish people have lived has been inseparably associated with Palestine. Their literature has sprung from the soil of Palestine. Their language, their institutions and their cult have been moulded in the image of Palestine. Two thousand years of exile have produced no divorce; for tradition and hope, the impress of the past and the promise of the future, have kept Palestine before the eyes of every true Jew as the goal of the age…101





Literally, this passage establishes a broad Jewish connection to Palestine, not a connection of Palestine to “the Jewish people”. But the logic – or rather the rhetoric – permeating this passage was that because Palestine was the only place “the Jewish people” had had a “national life”, therefore – here the non sequitur – in the present the place was rightfully theirs. Political rights now were being derived from past physical and political presence, regardless of the will of the people now actually living on the land. The argument by the way also conflates Jews (or Judaism; in any case “every true Jew”) with the Zionist political doctrine of a Jewish Palestine – despite the fact for instance that this very Arab Bureau intelligence report documented the opposition to Zionism of many Jews, inside and outside Palestine.102


Of Samuel’s ‘The Future of Palestine’ then Prime Minister Herbert Asquith, Lloyd George’s predecessor and an anti-Zionist, wrote:




He thinks we might plant in this not very promising territory about three or four million European Jews. … I confess that I am not attracted by the proposed addition to our responsibilities, but it is a curious illustration of Dizzy’s [former P.M. Disraeli’s] favourite maxim that ‘race is everything’ to find this almost lyrical outburst proceeding from the well-ordered and methodical brain of H.S. [Herbert Samuel].103 [also >105; >242; >429; >456]





Asquith introduced the term “race” with good reason, for Samuel was claiming that the Jewish race is superior to the Arab race. Samuel’s pamphlet was racist.


According to A. L. Tibawi, Samuel did not give up in the face of Asquith’s rejection, and gave a copy of his pamphlet to Mark Sykes who thereupon became a staunch and influential supporter of Zionism.104 [also >12] During the period until he became High Commissioner five years later, Samuel would adhere closely to the principles and feelings of ‘The Future of Palestine’.105 He for instance acted in accordance with this memo by “working closely with [Chaim] Weizmann in furthering the Zionist cause in London”, and in 1918 he drafted a Foreign Office dispatch to the Palestine [military] Government stating that the Balfour Declaration [>16] was a “chose jugée”, i.e. something already irreversibly decided.106 He was also a member of the Zionist delegation to the Paris Peace Conference in 1919, and his first visit to Palestine, in March 1920, was followed by a telegram to Foreign Minister George Curzon on 2 April objecting that plans supported by General Allenby and others “for recognising Faisal King of Palestine. … would tend to take life out of Zionist’s movements [sic.]”107 since Faisal clearly aimed for an Arab state, not a Zionist one. In Samuel’s estimation, in other words, the life or heart of the Zionist movement would disappear without British support. That much was true.
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9. The Damascus Protocol 23 May 1915


The ‘Damascus Protocol’, usually dated 23 May 1915,108 was the culmination of several conferences held by Near East Arabs. The Arab Congress of 18-23 June 1913, for instance, was held in Paris in the hall of the French Geographical Society; although some Palestinians took part, and Palestinians at home bombarded it with telegrams, it ended without any resolution on Palestine or Zionism.109 In response to this lack of an echo from the Paris meeting, Nablus was then the scene of a conference, demonstrations, and the founding of an Anti-Zionism Society – or the Zionism Resistance Society – which reaffirmed the Zionist danger to independence and to Arab land ownership.110 The enthusiasm engendered by the conference was large, and the Ottomans’ rejection of Arab demands for autonomy was afterwards bitterly criticised.111


Some disappointed attendees at the Paris congress who were members of the secret societies al-Jam‘iyya al-‘arabiyya al-Fatat (Arab Youth Society) and Jamyat al-Ahd (Covenant Society) were focussed not so much on Zionism but rather on the broader Arab quest for independence, and sometime between February and May 1915 they presented the ‘Damascus Protocol’ to Faisal bin Hussein, one of the sons of Hussein ibn Ali al-Hashemi, Sherif of the Hejaz [also >7; >10]; it demanded




recognition by Great Britain of the independence of the Arab countries lying within the following frontiers: North: The Line Mersin-Adana to parallel 37N. and thence along the line Birejek-Urfa-Mardin-Midiat-Jazirat-Amadia to the Persian frontier; East: The Persian frontier down to the Persian Gulf; South: The Indian Ocean (with the exclusion of Aden, whose status was to be maintained). West: The Red Sea and the Mediterranean Sea back to Mersin. … The conclusion of a defensive alliance between Great Britain and the future independent Arab State.





This did not include Egypt, but Palestine was clearly on the Mediterranean Sea between the Red Sea and Mersin and Adana.


These Arab nationalists, “who had formed a Central Arab Nationalist Committee [and] pledged them[selves] to recognize the Sherif as spokesman for the Arab Nation” would rise up against the Ottomans if Britain would agree to the Protocol’s terms – terms which were surreptitiously delivered to the Sherif in Mecca written on a tiny piece of paper “sewn inside the lining of one of [Faisal’s] retainer’s boots”.112 The territorial borders therein defined were almost exactly those which Faisal’s brother Abdullah and their father Sherif Hussein presented to the British rulers in Cairo between July 1915 and January 1916. [>10]


30 June 1915 The British Committee on Asiatic Turkey, headed by Maurice de Bunsen and including as a member Mark Sykes, worries that Our Empire is wide enough already, and our task is to consolidate the possessions we already have, to make firm and lasting the position we already hold, and to pass on to those who come after an inheritance that stands four-square to the world.113
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10.* McMahon-Hussein Correspondence July 1915-10 March 1916


Henry McMahon was appointed High Commissioner for Egypt in December 1914, and it thus fell to him to try to win Arab support during the war. Accordingly, he was the British official with whom Sherif Hussein, ruler of the Hejaz, conducted the negotiations known as the McMahon-Hussein Correspondence. In Hussein’s opening letter, dated 14 July 1915, he respectfully told the British in Cairo that




the whole of the Arab nation without any exception have decided in these last years to accomplish their freedom, and grasp the reins of their administration both in theory and practice. … [We hope] England will acknowledge the independence of the Arab countries… (Letter 1)114





He then named the borders listed in the Damascus Protocol [>9] as defining what he meant by the “Arab countries”.


McMahon in reply on 30 August “confirm[ed]… the terms of Lord Kitchener’s message [>7]… in which was stated clearly [the British] desire for the independence of Arabia and its inhabitants.” (Letter 2)115 Hurt by McMahon’s hesitant “coolness”, Hussein on 9 September replied that the British are here dealing not with a single powerful ruler but with the Arab “peoples” whose “demands are necessary for our existence; nay, they are the essential essence of our life, material and moral.” (Letter 3)116


To this McMahon replied on 24 October 1915:




The two districts of Mersina and Alexandretta [today Turkey’s Mersin, Adana and Hatay Provinces] and portions of Syria lying to the west of the districts of Damascus, Homs, Hama and Aleppo cannot be said to be purely Arab, and should be excluded from the limits demanded. Subject to the above modifications, Great Britain is prepared to recognize and support the independence of the Arabs in all the regions within the limits demanded by the Sherif of Mecca. (Letter 4)117





The coastal region from Aleppo on down was presumably not “purely Arab” because of its Kurds, Armenians and Assyrians, but at least McMahon had stated the criterion for excluding territory from independence, and that criterion applied far more weakly to Palestine, where such ethnicities were a very small proportion of the population.118 Note also that the “district” of Damascus was actually the Ottoman Sanjak (provincial subdivision or county) of Damascus, whose southern border, i.e. its border with the Sanjak of Hauran, was at around 33°35’N latitude, which is a bit to the north of even Tyre in southern Lebanon, i.e. well north of Palestine. (The city of Damascus is at 33°50’N, the city of Safad at 32°57’N.) Therefore, none of Palestine was due west of the Damascus “district”; it was southwest of that Sanjak.


McMahon’s integrity is cast into doubt by the fact that on the same date as Letter 4, 24 October, behind Hussein’s back he dispatched to London:




I do not for one minute go to the length of imagining that the present negotiations will go far to shape the future form of Arabia or to either establish our rights or to bind our hands in that country … What we have to arrive at now is to tempt the Arab peoples into the right path, detach them from the enemy and bring them over to our side. This on our part is at present largely a matter of words and to succeed we must use persuasive terms and abstain from haggling over conditions.119





Hussein on 5 November rejected the exclusion – in effect the continued colonisation – of “the two vilayets of Aleppo and Beirut and their sea coasts” because they “are purely Arab vilayets, and there is no difference between a Moslem and a Christian Arab: they are both descendants of one forefather.” (Letter 5)


By contrast, McMahon on 14 December replied directly to the Sherif’s Letter 5 that British hands were tied by France’s interest in Aleppo and Beirut, but:




Great Britain has no intention of concluding any peace in terms of which the freedom of the Arab peoples from German and Turkish domination does not form an essential condition. As an earnest of our intentions, and in order to aid you in your efforts in our joint cause, I am sending you by your trustworthy messenger a sum of twenty thousand pounds. (Letter 6)





In this bundle of “persuasive terms” British and French “domination” are not mentioned. Three things stand out in Hussein’s next reply, Letter 7, dated 1 January 1916: 1) He is but a “transmitter” of the “decisions and desires of our peoples”; 2) The Arab people won’t tolerate their “dismemberment” at the hands of France in their northwestern sections; and 3) The Arabs had “never cared to negotiate with any other Power but you.” (Letter 7) This declaration of friendship was the end of this famous Correspondence.


HMG kept this correspondence from the public until 1939. [>400] (Why, if it clearly did not promise independence for Palestine?) In March 1919 the Foreign Office did show Emir Faisal’s assistant, Nablus native Awni Abdul Hadi, the full correspondence in Arabic120, but the letters, and thus what Gilbert Clayton, then Britain’s highest intelligence official for the area including Palestine, would call the ‘McMahon Pledge’121 were suppressed by HMG until 16 March 1939, when the pressure of the Arab Revolt of 1936-39 and the desire of Colonial Secretary Malcolm MacDonald to hold talks with Palestinians in London led to their release to Parliament. The letters and their context had been investigated for two months, as part of the St. James talks, by a special committee chaired by Lord Chancellor Frederic Maugham and including as members George Antonius and Musa al-Alami, Maugham’s fellow Cambridge alumni.122 [>400] The correspondence had however been obtained and privately published in 1923 and again, in 1938, by Antonius, Hussein having shown him his hand-written letters in 1931.123 Until World War I’s end suppression might have been advisable to avoid endangering so-called world Jewry’s support for the Entente war effort, but afterwards, apparently, straightforward pro-Zionism sufficed.124


The political effect on all parties of the letters’ publication by Antonius notwithstanding, the large historiography around these letters, in particular whether the British had included or excluded Palestine in the areas to be free, has from an academic as opposed to a negotiating point of view been a poor use of time. The reason is that the logically and ethically prior ‘Arab’ claim to sovereignty in Palestine did not depend on any “words” of the British – it was a historical, moral, and political claim outside the realm of power and promises.125 That is, as Jamal al-Husseini would testify at the February/March 1939 St. James Conference [>387] referred to just above:




It was also most important to bear in mind that the Arab case did not depend only on the interpretation of pledges but also on the basic and natural rights of the Arabs.126





Colonial Secretary Malcolm MacDonald similarly wrote a memo to the Cabinet on 18 January 1939 [>383] in which he said that while some




sections [of his memo] merely contain an account of the promises which British and other Governments have made to Jews and Arabs respectively,… the real discussion of the issues on which we have to reach decisions does not begin until the section headed ‘Future Policy’.127





Since that later section dealt with the real and purported rights of the disputing parties the meat of the matter, MacDonald was saying, was not mere “promises”.


That said, had the British admitted soon after taking over Palestine that despite McMahon’s ambiguities Palestine in all likelihood was not excluded from the offer of independence, its being to the southwest, not the west, of the “district” of Damascus, and its having an almost purely Arab population, one leg supporting Britain’s pro-Zionist policy would have collapsed, greatly strengthening the Palestinians’ hand. It is moreover plausible that these early pledges did play a psychological role in inclining the 1939 British elite – MacDonald and Maugham, for instance – to do what they did in the 17 May 1939 White Paper, namely grant Palestine independence as a normal majoritarian democracy (albeit, as usual, with some caveats). [>383-413]


The political relevance of the Correspondence would become visible, for instance, in the House of Commons debate on Palestine on 17 November 1930 [>242] which discussed the just-released ‘Passfield’ White Paper [>234]. During the debate Seymour Cocks asserted that the parts of the correspondence publicly known strongly suggested that the promise was for independence, but “successive Governments have said that that pledge was not definite, and… they have shielded themselves behind a suppressed correspondence.”128 Common sense as well must ask why something would be suppressed unless it argued against British pro-Zionism policy. In sum, even if the moral case for freedom was clear, the case based on such pledges, had they been revealed, might early-on have tipped the scales and made the Balfour Declaration untenable.


Against the Palestinian interpretation of the letters’ inclusion or exclusion of Palestine, by the way, stands Herbert Samuel’s claim in the House of Lords in 1937 that General Clayton, who had negotiated with the Arabs129 and written all the letters’ drafts, had told him that he and McMahon intended to exclude Palestine due to “the peculiar interests involved in Palestine”130 – namely the Zionist interests. But for this we have only Samuel’s word. In October 1918, on the other hand, Arnold Toynbee at the Foreign Office had supported the Arab interpretation in a twenty-page memo, and Sir John Maxwell in Cairo had written a separate memo pointing out that the excluded areas were to the “west of the Damascus, Homs, Hama and Aleppo line”, implying in terms of pure geometry that the exclusion from the independence promise pertained only to areas perpendicular to that line, but nothing south-west of it.131


The Arabs would soon be privy to various other British promises of independence, made mostly during 1918 [>14; >18; >20-22; >25; >28], and their knowledge of at least the thrust of McMahon’s promises added to their awareness of betrayal by Britain. This awareness and emotional resentment underpinned Palestinian behaviour throughout the Mandate, with many if not most of their letters, manifestos, statements and testimonies making explicit mention of it.


Toynbee was one Briton who also resented the betrayal, and according to Izzat Tannous T.E. Lawrence was another:




T.E. Lawrence, Lawrence of Arabia, was so grieved [at the Balfour Declaration and Sykes-Picot] that in protest of this betrayal, he refused to accept all the decorations awarded him by his government. In a statement he made on this subject, he said: ‘The British Government made the Arabs enter the war against written promises given to them which were specifically selfrule. … But, naturally, instead of being proud for what we achieved together, I found myself in a bitter everlasting shame.’132





We have seen that Hussein had “never cared to negotiate with any other Power but you.” (Letter 7) But we will see in the seminal ‘Report on the State of Palestine’ written by the Executive Committee of the Palestine Arab Congress in the winter of 1920-21 [>99] that the Palestinians felt their faith in the honesty of the British had been naïve.133


21 August 1915 [An Ottoman Military Court set up by the military governor of Syria Jamal Pasha has the first group of 11 Arab nationalist-movement martyrs executed in Beirut [others on 6 May 1916]; Sheikh Said al-Karmi was reprieved. Mahmoud Al-Mihmasani (born 1884) and his brother Mohammad (born 1880) were both martyred in the ‘first convoy’.]134 Among those executed were two Palestinians – Ali Umar Nashashibi, of Jerusalem, and Mohammed Shanti, of Jaffa.135
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11. Grey to Sazonov 13 March 1916


On 13 March 1916 a note presaging the Balfour Declaration was sent by Foreign Secretary Edward Grey to the British Ambassador to Russia, George Buchanan, to be handed on to Russian Foreign Minister Sazonov, apparently in an attempt to sound out the Russian government about its stance on Zionist settlement.136 I rely on the account of J.M.N. Jeffries, who himself was not able to obtain the English text of the original note – only a Russian translation – but who quoted from the texts given by Leonard Stein in his book Zionism and by Fannie Fern Andrews in her book The Holy Land under the Mandate.137 The text floats the prospect of gaining support of Jewish Zionists during the war by “an agreement concerning Palestine which would fully satisfy Jewish aspirations.” In the dispatch, whose language bears close resemblance to that of the Balfour Declaration [>16], especially in its invocation of “Jewish aspirations”, Grey directly quoted Lucien Wolf’s account:




If, as a result of the war, Palestine should fall within the sphere of French and British interests, the French and British Governments will not fail to take into consideration the historic interests of Jewry in this country. Both Governments would assure to the Jewish population equal political rights with other inhabitants [and] religious and civil freedom, such municipal privileges in colonies and towns as would appear necessary, as well as reasonable facilities for colonization and immigration. … [T]his matter will be sympathetically considered by His Majesty’s Government. (p 107)





Grey continued:


The only object of His Majesty’s Government is to devise some agreement which will be sufficiently attractive to the majority of Jews to facilitate the conclusion of a transaction securing Jewish support. … [I]f the scheme provided for enabling the Jews, when their colonies in Palestine are sufficiently strong to be able to compete with the Arab population, to take in hand the administration of the internal affairs of this region…, then the agreement would be much more attractive for the majority of Jews. (pp 107-08)


Ambiguity remained over whether the “equal political rights” referred to Jewish individuals or the Jewish collective (in which case the vision was that of political parity between a minority and an overwhelming majority), and whether “internal affairs” referred to those of Palestine as a whole or the Jewish-colonised areas.
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12. Sykes-Picot Agreement January-16 May 1916


Secret until published by the Bolsheviks on 23 November 1917 and the Manchester Guardian three days later, a British-French deal called the Sykes-Picot Agreement was struck at meetings held between late 1915 or early 1916 and its signing and ratification by the two governments between late April and 16 May.138 Negotiating for the British was Mark Sykes139 and for the French François Georges-Picot. In effect they divided up Mesopotamia and Bilad al-Sham (Greater Syria, i.e. today’s Palestine, Jordan, Syria and Lebanon) between themselves. Working under their respective Foreign Ministers Edward Grey and Paul Cambon, regarding Palestine the two diplomats decided:




It is accordingly understood between the French and British governments: That in [the area that became Mandate Palestine] there shall be established an international administration, the form of which is to be decided upon after consultation with Russia, and subsequently in consultation with the other allies, and the representatives of the Shereef of Mecca.





That is, there would be no post-war freedom after all, and it should be noted that the main fact was the taking over of the Near East by Europeans, not its particular division between France and Britain: in terms of self-determination what mattered, by definition, was colonial take-over by anybody. In the event, the British War Cabinet well into the year 1917 aspired to British, rather than either French or international, control of Palestine140 – which eventually happened.


Britain and France allotted some areas to themselves, yet in the same breath swore to “recognise and protect an independent Arab state or a confederation of Arab states.” The Agreement stipulated moreover concrete denials of sovereignty regarding, for instance, control by the British of the ports of Acre and Haifa, control for twenty years over tariffs, and the power of decision over railway routes.141


On 3 May 1916 Commander D.G. Hogarth [also >21; >36] wrote from Cairo to his superior Captain Hall:




I presume that, on grounds of high European policy, it was necessary to come now to some Agreement with our Allies about the future of the Near East… The section of French public opinion represented by M. Picot could hardly have been contented with a smaller tricoloured area, and Sir Mark Sykes no doubt achieved the utmost in persuading M. Picot to resign the eastern part of Syria with the chain of important inland Cities to independent Arab government, to leave Haifa to us, and to accept the internationalisation of Palestine. …





At the same time the conclusion of this Agreement is of no immediate service to our Arab policy as pursued here [Arab military action against the Ottomans] and will only not be a grave disadvantage if, for some time to come, it is kept strictly secret.142


Even after the Bolsheviks published it, the Sykes-Picot Agreement was suppressed by HMG until either 1939 or 1941.143 Note the importance to Hogarth of friendly, allied relations with the Arabs.


Hogarth went on to say that while Sherif Hussein undoubtedly insisted on his demand of autumn 1915 [>10] that “the whole of Syria with Palestine, up to lat. 37° N.” be included in “the area of Arab independence”, he had recently been quiet about borders and was willing to fight at Britain’s side; secrecy on borders and intentions was nevertheless needed, so Hogarth, because eventually “any definition [of borders] would be bound to clash with claims on which he has laid stress”; therefore this [Sykes-Picot] Agreement should




be regarded by our Government as a purely opportunistic measure, with the mental reservation that it cannot but need considerable revision sooner or later. For it contains several features which do not promise any final solution of the Near Eastern Question.





One of the “features” of the Agreement detrimental to a solution of that Question was “Palestine under international control … especially in view of the aspirations of the Jews to an area in which they may enjoy some sort of proprietorship;…”144 – despite the fact that the Sykes-Picot Agreement did not mention any Jewish or Zionist aspirations. Yet Hogarth must have known something about the connection between the Sykes-Picot Agreement and both Grey’s missive to Sazonov [>11] and the Balfour Declaration [>16]: as James de Rothschild (a closely-involved British politician and member of the Zionist Commission in Palestine in 1918 [>23]) would explain in the House of Commons in 1930,




The Sykes Picot agreement was negotiated… simply and only because of the Jewish National Home, and when the limitation of their frontier was drawn between Syria and Palestine, it was drawn north of the most northern Jewish colony in order to include that in the Jewish National Home.145





Compared with de Rothschild’s “National Home”, Hogarth’s “proprietorship” was at least an honest and apt word to describe the aspired-to Jewish state.


A view of the relation between the Sykes-Picot and Balfour statements is offered by A.L. Tibawi, one which sees it from the perspective of the criteria of peace and Palestinian sovereignty:




Had the original British intention of sponsoring as a successor state to the Ottoman Empire an independent Arab state in alliance with Britain not been bedevilled by the partition of these territories between Britain and France under the Sykes-Picot agreement, Britain would have been in a most favourable position, by virtue of at least military occupation, to bring that state into being. Neither the international regime for the holy places in Jerusalem,





 nor the accommodation of a Zionist programme within the framework of Arab independence, nor again an autonomous Lebanon, would have presented insuperable difficulties. With the benefit of hindsight this might have avoided much strife and bloodshed and afforded better and earlier opportunities for greater economic and social advance.146


The understatement of Tibawi’s final sentence aside, his view is exceptionally perceptive, all-encompassing, and touching in its lack of cynicism: Yes, the British had it in their hands to mould a peaceful Near East consisting of some relatively large, friendly Arab states. “Hindsight” also suggests, though, that for the British the bottom line was actually to give Palestine to the Zionists, in which case Sykes-Picot came in handy.


6 May 1916 Ottoman authorities publicly execute 21 Syrians and Lebanese and 2 Palestinians in Damascus and Beirut for alleged activities against the Empire. These executions bring the total number of notable political nationalists executed by Jamal Pasha to 800 and earn him the name ‘the Butcher’. [6 May is Martyrs’ Day, every year.]147


5 June 1916 [Herbert Kitchener drowns at sea when his ship hits a German mine near Orkney, Scotland.]


10 June 1916 Sharif Hussein Ibn Ali al-Hashimi proclaims Arab independence from Ottoman rule on the basis of his correspondence with McMahon [and] the Arab revolt against Constantinople begins. The Palestinians enthusiastically participate, perceiving themselves as part of the Arab ummah and hoping that the revolt will put an end to Zionist immigration. 148
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13. Sherif Hussein, McDonogh & Clayton 21 Nov. 1916


The Sykes-Picot agreement should, as Commander Hogarth had said, be “kept strictly secret” [>12], and so should the Zionist project:




When the Sharif’s newspaper al-Qibla published, in the latter part of 1916, an article about Zionism, General McDonogh of British Intelligence directed General [Gilbert] Clayton, Chief Political Officer, Egyptian Expeditionary Force and head of the Arab Bureau, to communicate a ‘serious and personal warning’ to the Sharif and urge him ‘to do his utmost to prevent discussions of this dangerous topic.’149





According to Philip Mattar, about this time Amin al-Husseini, later Mufti of Jerusalem, head of the British-created Supreme Moslem Council and de facto leader of the Palestine Arab Party, was in Cairo where he formed a group of 20 Palestinians pledging themselves to return to Palestine in order to “awaken the people” to the danger of Zionism.150 This strong and early anti-Zionism amongst Palestinians raises the question of what a British, French or American ‘Mandate’ would have meant to them without pro-Zionist content. The simple desire for independence would have remained, and presumably, like the other mandated territories, Palestine would have eventually struggled for and attained independence, itself joining the League of Nations and United Nations.
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14. Britain to all Arabs early 1917


Izzat Tannous was eyewitness to an attempt by Britain to hide its Zionist intentions, writing that in 1917 Britain targeted Arab soldiers in Turkish regiments: “Leaflets dropped by planes over [Greater] Syria [stated that] we are fighting for two Noble Aims: The Preservation of the Religion and the Freedom of Arabs generally.”151 In Tannous’s account, this air campaign sprang from the fact that many Palestinians saw the writing on the wall in the form of land sales and well-known Zionist proclamations. One piece of evidence for this is that one “educated young Moslem” in early 1917 told a British intelligence officer: “If the Jews take our country, where shall we go?”152 As long as the war lasted the Arabs had to be placated.


Confirming Tannous’s report of the dropped leaflets, the Shaw Commission in 1930 [>220] would believe Subhi Bey al-Khadra’s testimony that he also witnessed it in early 1917 – and that it must have been effective, since he himself then deserted the Ottoman army in order to fight for the British; without stating its source the Shaw Commission indeed quoted the leaflets’ entire text, which was addressed to “the Arab Officers and soldiers in the Turkish Army in Palestine” and seemingly penned by an Arab ally of Britain:




We have with much regret heard that you are fighting against us [i.e. for the Ottomans] who are working for the preservation of the soul of the Moslem Religion from being altered. We believe that the real truth has not reached you. We have therefore sent you this proclamation, sealed by our seal, to assure you that we are fighting for two noble aims, the preservation of religion and the freedom of Arabs generally. We have sent strict orders to the heads of the men on our line that if our Army happens to capture any one of you they should treat you well and send you to my sons who will welcome and keep you well. The Arab Kingdom has been for a long time in bondage to the Turks who have killed your brethren, and crucified your men and deported your women and families and have altered your religion. How then can you stand this and bear the bitterness of continuing with them and agree to assist them? Come and join us who are labouring for the sake of religion and the freedom of Arabs so that the Arab Kingdom may again become what it was during the time of your fathers, if God wills. God is the leader to the right path.153





In 1939 Andrew MacLaren MP inserted this somewhat florid text into the Hansard records of parliamentary proceedings as “an exact copy of the document thrown from our aeroplanes into the Turkish lines” and “scattered over the Turkish trenches. If it is not a promise I do not know what a promise is. It was a promise that if they deserted the Turkish forces and fought for us we would liberate their own land and overthrow the Turkish power.”154 MacLaren saw that the thereby promised “liberation” would not be consistent with substituting British for Turkish power.


The report of the Palin Court (Commission) in July/August 1920 of its investigations into the disturbances of 4-7 April 1920 – a report that was suppressed until 1968 [>88] – would likewise confirm the dropping of such pamphlets:




The general result [of McMahon’s pledges to Hussein]… was to convert any feeling the population (and this is true of the Christian population as well as the Moslem majority) may have had in favour of the Turks, into one of friendliness towards the British occupation. There is no question but that this was encouraged during the War by every kind of propaganda available to the War Office. For instance they were promised, in pamphlets dropped from aeroplanes, peace and prosperity under British rule. … The tendency of the evidence is to show that in spite of the fact that nothing had been said about Palestine being included in the Hedjaz Empire and the fact that the Balfour Declaration had been published in 1917, the real impression left upon the Arabs generally was that the British were going to set up an 155





independent Arab State which would include Palestine.


A.L. Tibawi, as well, confirms the scattering of freedom-promising circulars from British airplanes, based on “records of reconnaissance flights over southern Palestine in December 1916 and January 1917”.156


I have not myself seen such pamphlets, or facsimiles thereof. But these several official and eyewitness sources show that, as the drafting of the Balfour Declaration was underway, Britain was assuring the war-plagued inhabitants of Palestine that it prioritised their political interests. After its Balfour Declaration became known it would make many further such assurances [>18; >21; >22; >25; >28].


Speaking of British propaganda leaflets, the Peel Commission in 1937 [>336] recorded that:




To inform World Jewry of the [Balfour] Declaration millions of leaflets were circulated throughout the Jewish communities. They were dropped from the air on German and Austrian towns, and widely distributed through the Jewish belt from Poland to the Black Sea.157
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15.* Curzon on ‘Jewish national home’ as of 26 October 1917


All drafts of the incipient Balfour Declaration [>16] during the year or so of its incubation contained the phrase “national home for the Jewish people.” It is thus worth recording that on the British as well as the Palestinian side there were objections to the phrase’s vagueness. One person in particular who evidenced an anti-Zionist attitude, and was furthermore in a position to brake or even derail the Samuel-Balfour project all the way up until the summer of 1923 [>54; >72; >78; >165; >167], was George (Lord) Curzon.158 This entry takes a look at his thoughts and statements about the fundamental British deception in dealing with the Palestinians, namely their claim that they wanted merely a ‘home’ for the Jewish people, not something with clear-cut sovereignty. Because of Curzon’s stature and his role as Zionism’s only potent British opponent, I have included in this entry some of his thoughts and statements made after 1917. Up until the establishment of the Palestine colony no Cabinet member remained unaware of the criticism and doubts expressed by Curzon.


Just five days before the War Cabinet’s final decision to approve the text of the Balfour Declaration Lord Curzon, as one of its six members, circulated a memorandum called, as were several other documents before and during the Mandate, ‘The Future of Palestine’159 [also >8; >30; >167; >214; >442; >464] in which he asked:




What is the meaning of the phrase ‘a National Home for the Jewish Race in Palestine’ and what is the nature of the obligation that we shall assume if we accept this as a principle of British policy? … A ‘National Home for the Jewish race or people’ would seem, if the words are to bear their ordinary meaning, to imply a place where the Jews can be reassembled as a nation, and where they will enjoy the privileges of an independent national existence. Such is clearly the conception of those who, like Sir A. Mond [later Lord Melchett], speak of the creation in Palestine of ‘an autonomous Jewish State’, words which appear to contemplate a State, i.e., a political entity, composed of Jews, governed by Jews, and administered mainly in the interests of Jews.





An “independent” national existence necessarily means a state.


The War Cabinet was then in its last stage of constructing the final wording of the foreseen [Balfour] Declaration160, and both the National Archives documents and the secondary literature show that other terms being floated were ‘a home for the Jewish nation,’ ‘a national home for the Jewish race,’ ‘a Jewish Palestine,’ ‘the resettlement of Palestine as a national centre,’ ‘the reconstitution of Palestine as a Jewish Commonwealth’ and ‘the restoration of Palestine to the Jewish people.’ As for the meaning of “national home”, exactly two years later Curzon took a stand in reply to an internal pro-Zionist “declaration” by Richard Meinertzhagen: he stated in a Cabinet-level report that the Cabinet did not “contemplate… government of a majority by a minority”.161


This chronology is limited to English-language documents and pays little attention to Arabic-English translation. That this omission is important is shown by the example of this phrase ‘Jewish national home’. As then High Commissioner Herbert Samuel would on 12 February 1921 report to his superior in London, Foreign Secretary Curzon, concerning a talk he’d had in Jerusalem with Awni Abdul Hadi:




He [Awni] was of opinion that the political difficulties in Palestine largely arose from a misunderstanding on the part of the Arabs of the meaning of the term ‘Jewish National Home.’ Translated into Arabic the phrase really meant that Palestine was to be a Jewish National Fatherland, and the people consequently were convinced that the Arab population would be obliged to go elsewhere.162 [>97]





Readers are invited to send me further such words or concepts whose translation poses issues of substance.


Curzon further on 26 October 1917:




The same conception seems to underlie several other of the phrases employed in these papers, e.g., when we are told that Palestine is to become ‘a Jewish Palestine,’ and when we read of ‘the resettlement of Palestine as a national centre,’ and ‘the restoration of Palestine to the Jewish people.’





Some self-declared pro-Zionists, so Curzon, envisioned “a much less definite form of political existence, one… quite compatible with the existence of an alien [non-Jewish]… Government”. Although he attested the unfeasibility of Palestine’s being either a home or a state for more than a tiny fraction of the world’s 12,000,000 Jews, he had no objection to further Jewish colonisation, even though it came at large expense, and he supported the Jews’ “enjoying equal rights with other sections of the population”; however, “If we contemplate no more, is it wise to use language which suggests so much more?”


Aside from practicalities, according to Curzon there was ethics:




[W]hat is to become of the people of this country…? … There are over half a million of these, Syrian Arabs – a mixed community with Arab, Hebrew, Canaanite, Greek, Egyptian, and possibly Crusaders’ blood. They and their forefathers have occupied the country for the best part of 1,500 years. They own the soil, which belongs either to individual landowners or to village communities. They profess the Mohammedan faith. They will not be content either to be expropriated for Jewish immigrants, or to act merely as hewers of wood and drawers of water to the latter.163





Note that the present inhabitants, for Curzon, were not the “existing non-Jewish communities” mentioned by the Balfour Declaration [>16], but were called by a name: “Syrian Arabs”.


A few weeks earlier, on 4 October 1917, Curzon to the War Cabinet had similarly “urged strong objections on practical grounds”:




[T]he country was, for the most part, barren and desolate [and therefore] a less propitious seat for the future Jewish race could not be imagined. How was it proposed to get rid of the existing majority of Mussulman inhabitants and to introduce the Jews in their place? … [R]epatriation on a large scale [was] sentimental idealism, which would never be realised, and [HMG] should have nothing to do with it.164





According to William Mathew,




[Curzon] also worried that Zionist ambitions were much greater than those conveyed to the government by Weizmann and his friends, the likely objective being ‘an autonomous Jewish state’ in which the Zionists ‘would possess the soil of the greater part of the country.’165





David Gilmour reports on Curzon’s skirmish with Balfour in January 1919 after the latter had claimed that Weizmann was not asking for a “Jewish Government in Palestine”, much less a Jewish “commonwealth”; Curzon:




Weizmann may say one thing to you, or while you may mean one thing by a national home, he is out for something quite different. He contemplates a Jewish state, a Jewish nation, a subordinate population of Arabs etc. ruled by Jews; the Jews in possession of the fat of the land, and directing the Administration.166





To be sure, Curzon objected to the Balfour Declaration not only out of fairness to the indigenous people, but also from Britain’s self-interest, because it would cost a lot and make many Arab enemies.167


On the other hand, at the 31 October War Cabinet meeting which gave its approval to the Balfour Declaration, Curzon stopped short of outright condemnation of British support for the Zionist project, stating that “he did not agree with the attitude taken up by Mr. [Edwin] Montagu” – whose opposition was principled and total – since he, Curzon, “recognised that some expression of sympathy with Jewish aspirations would be a valuable adjunct to our [wartime] propaganda.”168 Ultimately, he did not fight for the Palestinians: as the most experienced and perhaps most powerful member of the ’Cavendish’ Cabinet Committee on Palestine, in the summer of 1923 he was unwilling to prevent HMG’s sticking to the admittedly costly and unfair Zionist Mandate. [>165; >167]169


Between autumn 1917 and summer 1923 Curzon continued his criticism without teeth. He sometimes referred to the Balfour Declaration as the ‘Zionist Declaration’, and on 26 January 1919 wrote:




But vide Dr. Weizmann’s telegram to Eder December 17th (below)… above his name appears the following ‘stipulation’. ‘That the whole administration of Palestine shall be so formed as to make of Palestine a Jewish Commonwealth under British Trusteeship’. Now what is a Commonwealth? I turn to my dictionaries and find it thus defined: ‘A State’. ‘A body politic’. An independent Community’. ‘A Republic’. Also read the rest of the telegram. What then is the good of shutting our eyes to the fact that this is what the Zionists are after, and that the British Trusteeship is a mere screen behind which to work for this end? And the case is rendered not the better but the worse if Weizmann says this sort of thing to his friend but sings to a different tune in public.170 [also >34; >38; >70; >88; >122; >178]





Curzon regularly read the Zionist periodical Palestine and throughout 1918-1919 could assure his fellow Eastern Committee members Balfour, Smuts and Lord Cecil, inter alia, that




They now talk about a Jewish State. The Arab portion of the population is well-nigh forgotten and is to be ignored. There seems… to be… a feeling by the Arabs that we are really behind the Zionists and not behind the Arabs…171





As minuted on 19 March 1919, Curzon’s stand on the proposed phrase “Jewish Commonwealth” was that while it might not be politic to use it, since that was the aim of British Palestine policy, “why not be honest and say Jewish Commonwealth at once? That would be intelligible. But as it is contrary to every principle upon which we have hitherto stood” he could not accept it.172


A day later, on 20 March, regarding the Mandate text’s incorporation of the Balfour Declaration he would more sarcastically observe:




Here is a country of 580,000 Arabs and 30,000 or is it 60,000 Jews (by no means all Zionists)… Acting upon the noble principles of self-determination and ending with a splendid appeal to the League of Nations, we then proceed to draw up a document which reeks of Judaism in every paragraph and is an avowed constitution for a Jewish state. [T]he poor Arabs are only allowed to look through the keyhole as a non-Jewish community. It is quite clear that this Mandate has been drawn up by some one reeling under the fumes of Zionism. … I have never been consulted as to this Mandate at an earlier stage, nor do I know from what negotiations it springs or on what undertakings it is based… But here I may say that I agree with Sir J. Tilley and that I think the entire conception wrong.173 [also >72]





It would be gullible to accept that he “not been consulted” at all. He was Foreign Secretary from 23 October 1919 until 22 January 1924. It is however possible that Colonial Secretary Milner, co-author of the Balfour Declaration who was succeeded by Churchill only after San Remo, on 13 February 1921, froze him out. This requires further research.


On either 19 or 20 March 1919 Curzon minuted his agreement with a Foreign Office official [name illegible] who suggested:




I notice that the Arab population are spoken of as, or included in, ‘the non-Jewish communities’ which sounds as if there were a few Arab villages in a country full of Jews. I should have thought that it would have been well to say more about the existing population and their rights before beginning about the Jews. I suppose this point of view has been considered and overruled, otherwise I should have expected the Palestine mandate to begin like the Syrian with paragraphs about helping and guiding the country in the development of its administration, being responsible for peace, order, etc., and then as an afterthought to provide for the Zionists.174 [see >92]





It was Zionism, however, which was the ‘forethought’ for HMG when it came to Palestine. This note from Curzon by the way introduced the obvious possibility, used repeatedly by the Palestinians in their disputes with Britain and the League of Nations, of comparing the Palestine Mandate text [>146] with those of Lebanon, Syria, Transjordan and Iraq – as well of course as comparing the actual political development of those Mandates. As for the conveyed impression of “a few Arab villages”, Jeffries would later even more trenchantly than Curzon write that the Balfour Declaration




called the multitude the non-few; it called the 670,000 the non-60,000; out of a hundred it called the 91 the non-9. … It would be as suitable to define the mass of working men as ‘the non-idling communities in the world’…175





On the real aim of the British and Jewish Zionists Mark Sykes’ grandson Christopher would later write:




What were the Jews trying to do? Amid many uncertainties here is a simple question with a simple answer. The Zionists wanted a Jewish state. There was no secret about it for anyone who troubled to find out. They had said that a State was their object over and over again. The foundation document of modern Zionism was Theodor Herzl’s book published in 1896, and its title was Der Judenstaat, literally “The State of the Jews,” and he made it perfectly clear that by this he meant a State in the ordinary sense. In the age of Nationalism there was nothing else that he could mean.176





Curzon certainly knew this even without step-by-step “consultation”, and certainly could have done all the homework necessary by the time he was negotiating for HMG in San Remo in April 1920. In any case, that there was deception on the part of the British Zionists, both Jewish and Gentile, in avoiding the word ‘state’ is beyond doubt. It is also beyond doubt that ‘everybody’ at the time knew this.


Further concerning this crucial topic of the elision between ‘home’ and ‘state’, in May 1947 the Jewish Agency – successor to the Zionist Commission [>23] and the embodiment of the Jewish Zionist organisations with an official role within the terms of the Mandate’s Article 4 [>146] – would tell the First Committee of the UN General Assembly:




The distinction recognized by the Jewish Agency between a Jewish State and a Jewish National Home was that the establishment of the Jewish National Home was a process the consummation of which was the setting up of a Jewish State.177





As Herbert Samuel had written in 1915, the state would simply take time, because a Jewish majority was a precondition. [>8] The Palin Court of Inquiry on 1 July 1920 would likewise present evidence that the ‘national home’ was a euphemism. [>88] George Antonius wrote that very soon after the war “it became clear” that “the label of National Home [was] a screen to establish a Jewish state…”.178 ‘Commonwealth’ would later be the exact term chosen by international Zionists at their conference in 1942 at the Biltmore Hotel in New York [>420], thus abandoning the weak ‘Jewish home’ yet stopping short of the final ‘Jewish state’.


All these terms originated, by the way, in the German language. Leading Zionist Max Nordau spoke the truth which informed both Palestinians and the British for the next decades:




[At the 1897 Basel Zionist conference] I did my best to persuade the claimants of the Jewish State in Palestine that we might find a circumlocution that would express all we meant, but would say it in a way so as to avoid provoking the Turkish rulers of the coveted land. I suggested ‘Heimstätte’ as a synonym for ‘State’ … This is the history of the much commented expression. It was equivocal, but we all understood what it meant. To us it signified ‘Judenstaat’ then and it signifies the same now.179





Both “Stätte” and “Statt” are weaker than “Staat”, usually meaning merely ‘place’, but stronger than a mere “Heim” (‘home’, ein Zuhause), making the German composite “Heimstätte” on balance actually a bit closer to “state” than the official British “circumlocution”, namely “home for the Jewish people”. With the introduction of the word “national” – the “national home for the Jewish people” of the 1917 Balfour Declaration [>16] and the “Jewish National Home” of the 1922 Churchill White Paper [>142] – the German term “Heimat”, which implies ownership and citizenship, was given a nod, and the concept again moved towards the honesty of the words “state” or “commonwealth”.


Similarly, if one asks what were the “Jewish Zionist aspirations” which, according to the all-important Balfour Declaration, Britain was to have “sympathy with” [>16], the answer is: the aspiration for a Jewish state on the entirety of at least the land of what became Mandate Palestine.180 As we shall see in the next entry, each word of that Declaration was weighed and re-weighed multiple times.


This hoary discussion about the terms ‘Jewish home’, ‘Jewish commonwealth’ and ‘Jewish state’, however much it reveals about the nature of the basic conversation between Palestinians and Britain, is ultimately less important than the premise underlying all of them, namely that Jews as a group, defined either religiously or ethnically, have collective political rights in Palestine; i.e. that it is right that a group defined by that particular ethnicity and/or religion should come to Palestine possessing more rights and/or power than would be theirs as individuals. This premise would be captured in the White Paper of 1922 [142] by the assertion that “the Jewish people… should know that it is in Palestine as of right and not on sufferance.”181 An entire ethnic collective is meant. It is the premise common to all shades of Zionism, then and now, and would be referred to thousands of times in correspondence and discussion between Britain and Palestinians, Britain and Jewish Zionists, and within each group. There is no more important concept in the study of the Zionist Mandate and the century-long conflict over Palestine.


At minimum, I believe the record shows that the term (Jewish national) ‘home’ should no longer be taken seriously by any scholar of the Mandate. It was simply a deception, as Curzon clearly grasped.
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II. Britain throws the first stone


December 1916 ‘In the new British Cabinet, at least five of its members – the Prime Minister; Lord Balfour, Foreign Secretary; Lord Milner, member of the war cabinet; Lord Cecil, Minister of Blockade; and Winston Churchill, Secretary of State for Munitions – were committed Zionists.’182


9 June 1917 ‘On 9 June a meeting was held at Caxton Hall under the auspices of the Central Islamic Society [158 Fleet Street, London, E.C.4]… A record of the proceedings… was published in a 23-page pamphlet entitled Muslim Interests in Palestine which was communicated to the Foreign Office. It opens with these words: “As there has been a great deal of talk lately of creating a Jewish state in Palestine under the suzerainty of a Christian power” the Muslim community decided to register a protest and to voice a warning. … [Ronald] Graham at least directed that the pamphlet be seen by Curzon [and other offices]. At the Foreign Office the pamphlet finally reached Balfour who may or may not have read it for it bears only his initials’183


1917 ‘The three assistant secretaries in the war cabinet were [MPs] Sir Mark Sykes, William Ormsby-Gore, and Leopold S. Amery – all committed Zionists’184


31 October – 11 December 1917 [British forces under Allenby take Gaza, southern Palestine and Jerusalem.]
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16.* Balfour Declaration 2 November 1917


This 14-page entry begins with the Declaration itself and an analysis of its text. It then discusses some of the history of its drafting – a departure from chronological order because its early drafts only make sense when compared with the final wording.


Here is the text of the letter from the War Cabinet, known as the Balfour Declaration, signed by hereditary Lord Arthur Balfour, Foreign Secretary and formerly Prime Minister and Secretary for [British colony] Ireland. It was sent on 2 November 1917 to the British Zionist Federation in care of its honorary president Lord Lionel Walter Rothschild:




I have much pleasure in conveying to you, on behalf of His Majesty’s Government, the following declaration of sympathy with Jewish Zionist aspirations which has been submitted to and approved by the Cabinet: His Majesty’s Government view with favour the establishment in Palestine of a national home for the Jewish people, and will use their best endeavours to facilitate the achievement of this object, it being clearly understood that nothing shall be done which may prejudice the civil and religious rights of existing non-Jewish communities in Palestine, or the rights and political status enjoyed by Jews in any other country. I should be grateful if you would bring this declaration to the knowledge of the Zionist Federation.





This exact text also appeared in the Times on 9 November 1917.185


Sent through Balfour, the letter was from the War Cabinet rather than either the full Cabinet or the Imperial War Cabinet. Its ultimate recipient was to be the “Zionist Federation” (of Great Britain), then newly headed by Chaim Weizmann – not the Board of Deputies of British Jews, half of whose members were anti-Zionist, then headed by Herbert Samuel’s brother Stuart.


In autumn 1917 the War Cabinet was made up of Prime Minister Lloyd George, Alfred Milner, George Curzon, Andrew Bonar Law, Jan Smuts, Edward Carson and George Barnes. Foreign Secretary Balfour, not a member, attended its meetings whenever he liked and did so on 31 October 1917 when the dispatch of the letter was approved.186 From late 1916 on, Lloyd George’s full Cabinet consisted of 25 Ministers, Secretaries and Lords, and to my knowledge it had nothing to do with the Balfour Declaration.


There was a small but important difference between the letter as sent, on 2 November, and what the War Cabinet had actually approved, on 31 October, namely:




The War Cabinet authorised:- The Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs [Balfour] to take a suitable opportunity of making the following declaration of sympathy with the Zionist aspirations: – ‘His Majesty’s Government view with favour the establishment in Palestine of a national home for the Jewish people, and will use their best endeavours to facilitate the





 achievement of this object, it being clearly understood that nothing shall be done which may prejudice the civil and religious rights of existing non-Jewish communities in Palestine, or the rights and political status enjoyed by Jews in any other country.’187


I do not know why “the Zionist aspirations” was replaced by “Jewish Zionist aspirations” sometime during those two days. The importance of the phrase was later reflected in a statement to Churchill by the 1st Palestinian Delegation to London on 24 October 1921, namely that proper British policy should “make provision for reasonable Jewish religious aspirations, but precluding any exclusive political advantages to them which must necessarily interfere with Arab rights.”188 [>123] In any case, there were two types of Jewish “aspirations” – political and religious.


William Rubenstein writes that Leo Amery, on instructions from Milner, wrote the final draft, and that the full War Cabinet “made only two minor amendments to his draft”; this could have been one of them.189 It is known that multiple drafts of the letter had been poured over for half a year and that each ‘period and comma’ had been carefully weighed. The new wording implied that, lest the word “Jewish” be rendered redundant, there must be unnamed non-Jewish Zionist aspirations; perhaps the aspirations of Christian Zionists, of whom there were many. Or, there were other Jewish aspirations, for instance religious ones, as formulated for instance in the Palestinian Delegation’s statement quoted just above.”190


So, what were “(Jewish) Zionist aspirations” at that time known to be, aspirations now to be furthered by Great Britain? Whatever was said in public, the main aspiration was and was known to be the establishment of a Jewish state in (at least) all of Palestine, as perceived by George Curzon and admitted in 1945 by Herbert Samuel. [see >15 & >429] Theodor Herzl’s book launching the movement on a large scale was after all entitled Der Judenstaat 191, and in it Zionism was to enable “escape from minority life”192. Such an escape tautologically required a majority which would be able to reach the objective. The programs of the World Zionist Congresses, held as of 1917 eleven times since 1897, stated this goal (“aspiration”) more or less openly. As quotations throughout this chronology will show, this view was held in private by many Britons, and eventually publicly as well, for instance on 18 January 1939 by Colonial Secretary Malcolm MacDonald, who likewise read the Balfour Declaration as declaring that because the “aspirations” were “Zionist” ones, the British were supporting a Palestine in which the Jews were in the majority.193 That is, the aspirations with which HMG were declaring sympathy were aspirations for nothing less than a Jewish state for which a precondition was a Jewish majority.


Samuel in 1915 in his ‘The Future of Palestine’ had moreover written that the goal was “to realise the aspiration of a Jewish State”. [>8] In the previous entry, as well, we saw that Curzon knew of the difference between a “national home” and the real aim, even if it would take time and immigration. [>15]194 And Balfour himself, at the decisive 31 October meeting, asserted without contradiction from the others that evidently the whole Cabinet agreed that “some declaration favourable to the aspirations of the Jewish nationalists” should be made.195 What was any ethno-religious “nationalist” if not one who wanted a nation-state? On the legerdemain involving the terms ‘home’, ‘commonwealth’ and ‘state’ see the Theme Index.


If the favoured and supported “aspirations” were in fact for a state, the Declaration contained two contradictions:




1) Due to the great difference between a “home” (“for the Jewish people”) and the aspired-to ‘state, supporting only the former precluded supporting the latter; and indeed, official HMG policy as of the 1939 White Paper [>410], was expressly that all of Palestine should not become a Jewish state196, since the “home” which was by then well established was enough. On this reading the Balfour Declaration actually failed to support “Zionist aspirations”.


2) While a mere “home” was just conceivably consistent with the integrity of what the Declaration termed “the civil… rights of existing non-Jewish communities”, although established against their will, the Jewish ‘state’ the Zionists aspired to would undeniably “prejudice” those rights. For, by most definitions, ‘civil’ rights included at least political equality, yet any ethnically-defined ‘state’, implying some degree of political privilege for the named ethnicity, entailed political inequality.





Aims, aspirations… these are the stuff of a good century of debate, but I am trying to stay close to the text and the letter’s context.


There are five further equivocal terms contained in the text which must be examined, terms with important consequences for the Palestinians and their debate with the British:


1. “national”: What is the difference between a “home” and a “national home”? If ‘nation’ is synonymous with ‘country’ or ‘state’, then adding the qualifier “national” moves the “object” Britain wanted to “achieve” closer to a sovereign Jewish state, something far from harmless for the indigenous people.197 If ‘nation’ on the other hand is defined merely as an ethnic, cultural, religious or linguistic group, the qualifier is superfluous, for it has already been stated that the “home” shall be “Jewish”. Whatever “national home” meant – it was a neologism in political science, and has only ever been applied to the Zionist project – it was successful, if not in cloaking the fact that if a nation has a homeland, it has a state, then at least in providing a default position whenever Zionism was taking too much heat for implying the disenfranchisement of the Palestinians. According to James Renton, the phrase (Jewish) “home in Palestine” first appeared in the Basel Program of 1897, with Nahum Sokolow adding the term ‘national’ in the Zionist draft of what became the Balfour Declaration of 18 July 1917 (see just below); this word ‘national’, together with the phrase ‘Zionist aspirations’, meant that the most accurate label for this home was that used by Lord Islington in the House of Lords on 21 June 1922: “Zionist Home”.198


2. “in”: The “home” would be “in” Palestine, but in how much of it? All of it, or only, say, in and around Tel Aviv? In order to assuage Palestinian opposition arising from this vagueness, Samuel and Churchill in their 1922 White Paper would write that the Declaration did not “contemplate that Palestine as a whole should be converted into a Jewish National Home, but that such a Home should be founded in Palestine”.199 [>142] But although this was literally merely a statement about what was “contemplated”, it did imply that the home would not be congruent with (all of) Palestine.


3. “people”: This term shifted the focus towards an ethno-religious collective, away from any given individuals, of any given ethnicity or religion, then living in Palestine; in declaring that the “home” belonged to all of the world’s Jewish people, although only about one-half of one percent of them lived in Palestine, it was moreover setting up a tension between the territorial or historical idea of a people – in this case those rooted in the land called Palestine – and the ethno-religious one, i.e. a people as a race.


4. “civil”: As mentioned above, a ‘civil’ right arguably includes full and equal citizenship in the polity in question, but the concept was and is up for grabs. Clear is only that the Declaration’s drafters did not – as they did when referring to the “Jews in any other country” – state that the “rights and political status” of the indigenous Palestinians should not be “prejudiced”, only that their “civil and religious rights” would be protected – conspicuously absent the concept “political”.200


5. “communities”: The non-Jews in Palestine were characterised as a “community” rather than a “people”, and “community” arguably implies less “political status” than either “nation” or “people”.201 No “aspirations” of this “community”, much less any “national” ones, were mentioned in the Declaration; indeed not even the words ‘Palestinian’ or ‘Arab’ make an appearance.202 The national aspirations of the indigenous Palestinians were acknowledged only two decades later, in a memorandum dated 18 January 1939 written by then Colonial Secretary Malcolm MacDonald, whose analysis of the Balfour Declaration was the same as the one given here.203 [>383]


During the Mandate the ambiguities in the language of the Balfour Declaration provided the British with the means to negotiate and ‘politically litigate’, in their mother tongue, with the colonised Arabs. Towards the end of the Mandate Ernest Bevin, newly in charge of Palestine as Foreign Secretary, complained that the Balfour Declaration should have been “worded more carefully”, and that as worded it was like trying “to ride two horses at once”, but he did not comment on its past political usefulness.204


The Balfour Declaration and the Mandate text which incorporated it word for word [>146] were and still are repeatedly described as containing “dual obligations” or two equally strong commitments, one to each side.205 But this is false, not least because the Declaration, as just indicated, treats the two sides a-symmetrically, the one a “people” and the other a mere “community”. The text itself privileges the “Jewish Zionist” group over the other group(s):


1. The “Jewish people” get a “national home”, a phrase implying political rights, while the “existing non-Jewish communities” get only “civil and religious” rights, not political ones.206


2. The Jewish side is named by its name while the other is defined namelessly and by what it is not – Jewish; the framework is thus Judeo-centric, the present inhabitants situated on the conceptual periphery.


3. The Jewish-Zionist side gets the positive goods of “sympathy”, being “viewed with favour” and “facilitation”, while the unnamed, negatively-defined side gets at best only a negatively-expressed status quo: “nothing” shall be done to their “prejudice”.


4. This imbalance is aggravated by the fact that the demographic numbers – Jews’ making up at most 7% of the population – would suggest that any bias would be a priori in favour of the majority group; even giving the minority full-blown political and rhetorical parity with the majority would constitute an asymmetry in any imagined ‘dual obligations’.


As Jamal al-Husseini would say on 27 January 1947, during the last-ever talks between Palestine and Britain, the Balfour Declaration was both “vague and one-sided”.207


The Mandate Preamble would incorporate the wording of this Declaration and its Article 6 would include the phrase “ensuring that the rights and position of other sections of the population are not prejudiced” [>146], thus containing some rhetorical nods to a balanced ‘dual obligation’, but the a-symmetry remained because the obligations to the two groups were not the same. The Mandate text also said HMG must positively “facilitate” immigration and “encourage” close settlement, whereas no positive activity for the Arab-indigenous side was mentioned at all, only the negative caveat to “not prejudice” their “rights and position”. The texts of neither the Balfour Declaration nor the British-authored Mandate foresee even parity, much less respect for the majority. Thus, the British cannot be accused of not carrying out what they declared they would do, namely support “Zionist aspirations”. They did not waver from fulfilling the lop-sided Balfour Declaration.


Below are some observations on the attitudes and thoughts behind the Declaration’s final draft, and also, although strictly speaking beyond this book’s scope, a few words on the genesis of the Declaration.208


Official material on the Declaration’s history has been scarce. On 14 July 1967 a dispute was finally settled as to whether documentation of the origins, drafting and authorisation of Balfour’s letter to Rothschild was actually held by the Public Records Office in London.


Mr. A. Harrington on that date assured those researchers looking for such documentation that although some papers “came to light” only in 1940 and others in 1947, there were now no “serious gaps in our archives surrounding this matter”:




[A]s far as the Declaration itself is concerned, the draft, which was prepared in the Foreign Office and initialled by Sir Ronal Graham, and a carbon copy of the letter as sent (showing Mr Balfour as the signatory) safely repose in Volume F.O. 3i7/3083 [sic.: The correct file number is FO 371/3083], in paper number 210332/143082 – War (Turkey).





A Mr. Child then commented that “some of the papers could be missing” still.209 Historians have therefore turned to many other sources as well.


The basic idea of British support for a Jewish political presence in Palestine was of course contained in Herbert Samuel’s ‘The Future of Palestine’. [>8] Some scholars have traced it back to somewhat later in 1915:




The idea had come to [the British] from an unlikely source. In November 1915, long before the United States was involved in the war, the fertile brain of [U.S.-American] Horace Kallen… had come up with the idea of an Allied statement supporting in whatever veiled way was deemed necessary, Jewish national rights in Palestine.210





“Jewish national rights” was one way of “veiling” the Zionist “aspirations” to be supported. James Renton offers a further account in which he also relates Curzon’s reservations on the wording of British policy [e.g. >15; >72] and the various drafts in the months before 2 November.211


Another source puts the date 1916 on an agreement between the War Cabinet and Zionists to promise the latter a “national home”.212 And according to Chaim Weizmann, a few days after 13 June 1917 he, Lord Rothschild and Ronald Graham went to Balfour requesting “a definite declaration of support and encouragement”, whereupon Balfour “promised to do so, and asked me to submit to him a declaration which would be satisfactory to us, and which he would try and put before the War Cabinet.213 A.L. Tibawi’s rendering of this encounter is that Balfour asked “Lord Rothschild and Professor Weizmann” – two British citizens who were neither elected politicians nor members of the civil service – to “submit a formula”.214


One formula ‘in the air’ found its way into a draft written by Manchester Guardian journalist Harry Sacher dated 22 June, which the final 67-word version of 2 November would actually tone down; it had read:


The British Government declares that one of its essential war aims is the reconstitution of Palestine as a Jewish State and as the national Home of the Jewish People.215


Another draft, similar to this one in employing the maximal concept of a “reconstitution” of (all of) Palestine, had also been proposed by the letter’s eventual recipient, Walter Rothschild.216


Replying explicitly to Balfour’s request for a “formula”, one formula dated 18 July and regarded as the version officially desired by the Zionist Organization in London was sent along to the Foreign Office by Rothschild:




His Majesty’s Government accepts the principle that Palestine should be reconstituted as the National Home of the Jewish people. His Majesty’s Government will use its best endeavours to secure the achievement of this object and will discuss the necessary methods and means with the Zionist Organisation.217





Curiously, Weizmann omits from his own citation of this draft any reference to the “reconstitution” of Palestine, quoting only HMG’s hoped-for “recognition” of Palestine as “the National Home of the Jewish people” and its intention to




grant… internal autonomy to the Jewish nationality in Palestine, freedom of immigration for Jews, and the establishment of a Jewish National Colonizing Corporation for the re-establishment and economic development of the country. The conditions and forms of the internal autonomy and a Charter for the Jewish National Colonizing Corporation should… be elaborated in detail and determined with the representatives of the Zionist Organization.218





The evocative “re-establishment… of the country”, to be sure, can be read as synonymous with Palestine’s “reconstitution”; in any case, the native Palestinians were to be frozen out of any “determinations”.


Balfour answered this submission by Rothschild in “August 1917”:




In reply to your letter of July 18th, I am glad to be in a position to inform you that His Majesty’s Government accept the principle that Palestine should be reconstituted as the national home of the Jewish people. His Majesty’s Government will use their best endeavours to secure the achievement of this object and will be ready to consider any suggestions on the subject which the Zionist Organisation may desire to lay before them.219





Here according to Balfour, Palestine as a unit was to be “reconstituted” – but I have no knowledge of a Cabinet (HMG) conclusion officially “accepting” that principle.


Also in August came Milner’s watered-down version omitting the term ‘reconstitute’:


His Majesty’s Government accepts the principle that every opportunity should be afforded for the establishment of a home for the Jewish people in Palestine, and will use its best endeavours to facilitate the achievement of this object, and will be ready to consider any suggestions on the subject which the Zionist Organisation may desire to lay before them.220


A bit later, on 4 October, Milner’s version would be “His Majesty’s Government views with favour the establishment in Palestine of a National Home for the Jewish Race…”221 This was identical to the final formulation except that the word “Race” would be replaced by “people”.


In the end (on 31 October and 2 November 1917) the Balfour letter said nothing of reconstituting anything, but the idea of “reconstituting” Palestine would resurface during the drafting of the Preamble to the Mandate [>146] when the idea was still politically incorrect but the term “reconstitute” was still beloved. How to reconstitute Palestine without overly inflaming the natives? According to Curzon, Balfour came to the rescue, proposing the wording that was in fact adopted in the Preamble:




Whereas recognition has thereby been given to the historical connection of the Jewish people with Palestine and to the grounds for reconstituting their national home in that country;…





Voilà. It was no longer Palestine, but rather the Jews’ national home, that would be ‘reconstituted’. [also >78; >94; >146] Ontological difficulties surrounding the idea of the spreadout Jewish people’s constituting a “home” notwithstanding, the rhetorically useful term “reconstitution” was thus planted, with later generations not paying all that much attention to whether it was Palestine or the Jewish national home that was to be newly put together and built up.


Whatever the exact formulation, according to J.C. Hurewitz during the summer of 1917 HMG regarded as “essential for the realisation of this principle [the establishment of the ambiguous ‘home’] the grant of internal autonomy to the Jewish nationality in Palestine, freedom of immigration for Jews, and the establishment of a Jewish National Colonising Corporation…”222 Hurewitz’s description of what was desired was in fact accepted for the Mandate text which was to flesh out the Balfour text – and not unimportantly included yishuv autonomy in many areas of public life such as schooling, a military, courts and a single recognised legislature – but with the drafters’ stopping short of the “reconstitution” of Palestine. That concept, desired by Weizmann, Sokolov, Stuart Samuel and most other Zionists223, would mean switching sovereignty from one group to another and thus would have publicly and ineluctably admitted that Britain’s policy was the establishment of a Jewish state with destructive consequences for 90% of the present inhabitants. According to David Gilmour, in deleting the words “reconstituted as”, the War Cabinet was deferring to Curzon’s minority anti-Zionist position, yet while “Curzon won the argument… Balfour won the battle.”224


In the event, even if the Declaration was not perfect from the Zionist point of view, on 31 October Mark Sykes, Secretary to the War Cabinet, emerged from the meeting which agreed on the final draft of the Balfour Declaration to tell the waiting Chaim Weizmann, “It’s a boy!”225 According to Sahar Huneidi Leo Amery and William Ormsby-Gore, two later Colonial Secretaries, were the main authors of the final draft226, although, as we have seen, within the War Cabinet Milner put his name on it. William Rubenstein gives Amery the credit, and Amery himself would claim authorship in late January 1946 when testifying before the Anglo-American Committee of Inquiry.227 [>438]


Edward Said’s comment on this battle over wording comes from his practice of looking at the ‘question of Palestine… from the standpoint of its victims’:




The country’s ‘re-constitution’ and ‘rebuilding’ unmistakably implies… that its present constitution – including hundreds of thousands of Arabs – was to be dissolved… in order that in its place was to appear a new Jewish state. The style of these declarations of intent is to leave out any unambiguous reference to the doubtless inconvenient fact that the country was already constituted…228





Thirty years later, speaking before the United Nations, David Ben-Gurion in May 1947 would obfuscate by using a slightly different word, referring to “the restoration of Palestine to the Jewish people”.229 When, moreover, Ben-Gurion was grilled by Indian UN Delegate Abdur Rahman about the crucial difference between “Palestine as the National Home of the Jewish people” and a “National Home in Palestine”, Ben-Gurion equivocated.230 The phrase ‘national home’ would spawn entire libraries full of commentary.


The debate over the Declaration’s terms was both heated and international. On 23 August 1917 the Cabinet member most strongly opposed to any declaration of sympathy for Zionism, Edwin Montagu, a Jew, had written to the Cabinet:




[T]he Government proposes to endorse the formation of a new nation with a new home in Palestine. … But… it seems to be inconceivable that Zionism should be officially recognised by the British Government, and that Mr. Balfour should be authorised to say that Palestine should be reconstituted as the ‘national home for the Jewish people.’ I do not know what this involves, but I assume that it means that Mahommedans and Christians are to make way for the Jews… [However,] I assert that there is not a Jewish nation. … I would willingly disfranchise every [British] Zionist. I would be almost tempted to proscribe the Zionist organisation as illegal and against the national interest. … I deny that Palestine is to-day associated with





 the Jews or properly to be regarded as a fit place for them to live in. … I would say to Lord Rothschild that the Government will be prepared to do everything in their power to obtain for Jews in Palestine complete liberty of settlement and life on an equality with the inhabitants of that country who profess other religious beliefs. I would ask that the Government should go no further.231


Montagu was to be sure always arguing from the likely bad effects on Jews, not on indigenous Palestinians, of Britain’s pursuit of Zionist aspirations.


At the War Cabinet meeting of 4 October Montagu again brought his objections,232 and on 9 October he followed this up with another memo in which he called Weizmann “near to being a religious fanatic”, gave the names of 47 prominent anti-Zionist English Jews, and favourably quoted leading Italian Jew Luigi Luzzatti who wrote, “In Palestine, delivered from the Turks, Jews will live, not as sovereigns but as free citizens, to fertilise their fathers’ land. Judaism is not a Nationality but a Religion.”233 In 1919 300 U.S.-American Jewish opponents of political Zionism wrote President Wilson urging not a Jewish, but rather a “democratic” state of Palestine, because




A Jewish State involves fundamental limitations as to race and religion, else the term ‘Jewish’ means nothing.234





Then on 4 March 1919 this petition’s author wrote to Wilson pleading for his support for the idea at the Paris conference “that the principle of self-determination of peoples should be applied to Palestine precisely as to other countries”.235


At any rate, since the text would declare “the Jewish people”, anywhere in the world, as the beneficiaries of the pro-Zionist policy, the consequence lay very near of their moving in large numbers to Palestine. Winston Churchill, brought into Lloyd George’s Cabinet earlier in 1917 and named Colonial Secretary, in charge of Palestine, from 13 February 1921 through 19 October 1922, would years later comment on how these issues had been understood in 1917. In the House of Commons on 22 May 1939 he said, in justification of “freedom of immigration for Jews”:




To whom was the pledge of the Balfour Declaration made? It was not made to the Jews of Palestine, it was not made to those who were actually living in Palestine. It was made to world Jewry and in particular to the Zionist associations. … They were the people outside, not the people in. It is not with the Jews in Palestine that we have now or at any future time to deal, but with world Jewry, with Jews all over the world. That is the pledge which was given,…236 [>411]





Churchill here incidentally came within a hair’s breadth of conflating “world Jewry” with “Zionist associations”.


Similarly Lloyd George, Prime Minister in 1917, testified in 1937 before the Peel Commission:




The idea was, and this was the interpretation put upon it at the time, that a Jewish State was not to be set up immediately by the Peace Treaty without reference to the wishes of the majority of the inhabitants. On the other hand, it was contemplated that when the time arrived for according representative institutions to Palestine, if the Jews had meanwhile responded to the opportunity afforded them by the idea of a national home and had become a definite majority of the inhabitants, then Palestine would thus become a Jewish Commonwealth.237





The aimed-at “definite” numerical majority was the precondition, and Lloyd George threw in the word “Commonwealth”, which was more than a ‘home’ yet less than a ‘state’. He was to be sure recalling things correctly, for in expressing the consensus view of the War Cabinet at its meeting of 31 October 1917 Balfour had declared unchallenged:




As to the meaning of the words ‘national home,’ to which the Zionists attach so much importance, he [Balfour speaking of himself] understood it to mean some form of British, American, or other protectorate, under which full facilities would be given to the Jews to work out their own salvation and to build up, by means of education, agriculture, and industry, a real centre of national culture and focus of national life. It did not necessarily involve the early establishment of an independent Jewish State, which was a matter for gradual development in accordance with the ordinary laws of political evolution.238





A “State” after all, just not an “early” one, given the demographics. That Balfour was a genius is proven by his capturing forced immigration and demographic revolution within the concept of “ordinary… political evolution”.


Further supporting Lloyd George’s recollection of what “the idea was”, of what was “the interpretation put upon it at the time”, namely that a Jewish-majority ‘state’ or ‘commonwealth’ was intended, are many other British documents, just one example being a 36-page ‘Intelligence Report’ dated 10 January 1918 that delved into the various meanings of “self-determination” for Europeans, Orientals, Christians, and Moslems: it reads as if it were apparent to all concerned that “Mr Balfour’s letter to Lord Rothschild foreshadowed the first positive alienation of Moslem soil to non-Moslems by the [an] act of the Allies”.239 Helped on by the deceptive language of a national ‘home’, Palestinian soil, through immigration and land purchase and political encouragement by the British, would be “alienated”.


It should go without saying that one aspiration of the Jewish Zionists, moreover one not needing to be hidden from the public, was immigration – as free, numerous and rapid as possible. Commenting on Milner’s draft of 4 October 1917 (see just above), the reputedly anti-Zionist President of the Anglo-Jewish Association, Claude Goldsmid Montefiore, made a comment covering the two themes of Jewish immigration into their “home” and the goal of a sovereign state once there was a Jewish majority. He said:




We are in favour of local autonomy where ever the conditions allow it. Whoever the suzerain Power of Palestine may be, we are in favour of the Jews, when their numbers permit it, ultimately obtaining the power which any large majority may justly claim.240 [also >143; >327]





The seeds of the state were in the wording, since a “majority” with “power” logically forms a state.


But the devil was in the timing: if, as Montefiore opined, “any” large majority “justly” claims political “power”, then on this general and valid democratic principle, in the year 1917, the overwhelming anti-Zionist, non-Jewish Palestinian majority in Palestine had exactly that “just claim” – to form a state from the Moslems, Christians and Jews living there.


Throughout the Mandate most people were aware of this contradiction between being in favour of democracy on Sundays, but blocking it during the week as long as the demographics showed the ‘wrong’ majority. British Zionist Richard Meinertzhagen241, for instance, one of the highest-placed members of the Middle East Department of the Colonial Office from 1921 through 1926, wrote in his diary on 27 October 1932:




Iraq has recently become a member of the League of Nations. There has been a suggestion that Palestine should receive autonomous government on the same lines as has been granted to Iraq. Such a course is impossible until the Jews get control.242





It is worth noting that the British throughout the Mandate also put this attitude into practice, namely by repeatedly blocking any Legislative Council with an indigenous majority.243 Self-determination would be approved only if the ‘self’ had a Jewish majority.


The content of the Balfour Declaration contained most of the main points of contention between the British and the Palestinians throughout the Mandate. But the fall of 1917 also saw a good illustration of the lack of dialogue between the British and their Palestinian subjects. When the War Cabinet on 4 October was officially submitting its penultimate draft to selected people for comments, it decided to “confidentially” submit the draft of Lord Milner (see just above) “to President Wilson, Leaders of the Zionist Movement [and] Representative persons in Anglo-Jewry opposed to Zionism”, but not to any Palestinians or Arabs, not to any actual residents of the places whose future they were deciding.244 Carrying out this War Cabinet decision to get feedback, its Secretary, Maurice P.A. Hankey, on 17 October wrote:




In accordance with the instruction given in War Cabinet 245, Minute 18, the draft declaration on Zionism was submitted to nine – or, including Mr. E.S. Montagu, ten – representative Jewish leaders. … The six favourable to a Zionist form of declaration are:- 1. The Rt. Hon. Herbert Samuel, M.P. 2. The Chief Rabbi. 3. Lord Rothschild. 4. Sir Stuart Samuel, Bart., Chairman of the Jewish Board of Deputies. 5. Dr. Weizmann. 6. Mr. Nahum Sokolow. The three unfavourable are:- 7. Sir Philip Magnus, M.P. 8. C.G. Montefiore, Esq., President, Anglo-Jewish Association. 9. L.L. Cohen, Esq., Jewish Board of Guardians.245





Six of these were pro-Zionism, three against if one includes Montefiore. Accompanying these referee’s comments were the views of the British Jewish press and of Zionist U.S.-American Jews, gathered in a long memorandum.246 Again: there was no input from the region or the indigenous side at all; they had been a priori ‘erased’. The Balfour Declaration was a letter written by its recipients.247


A week or so later, on 26 October, War Cabinet member Curzon staked out a meaning of “home” as far as possible away from “state”, saying that the maximum to be agreed to was to:


1. Set up some form of European administration (it cannot be Jewish administration) in Palestine. 2. Devise a machinery for safeguarding and securing order both in the Christian and in the Jewish Holy Places.


3. Similarly guarantee the integrity of the Mosque of Omar and vest it in some Moslem body.


4. Secure to the Jews (but not to the Jews alone) equal civil and religious rights with the other elements in the population.


5. Arrange as far as possible for land purchase and settlement of returning Jews.248


Evidently already current were the later, hot and constant themes of the de facto Jewish-Zionist role in the Administration, the different categories of “rights” to be granted, land sales, “close” land settlement and perhaps even – what to be sure only the anti-Zionists doubted – whether the European Jews were “returning” to Palestine.


After the War Cabinet’s letter was mailed, the British attempted to keep it a secret from Arabs, and the text was suppressed in Palestine, perhaps by direct order of General Allenby249, until 28 April or 1 May 1920, when Louis Bols, then Chief Administrator of the Military Administration in Palestine, read it out publicly in Nablus250. [>77; >84] Keeping it secret was of course impossible, though, not least because jubilant Zionist groups announced it to the world in the weeks just after its publication [see >17] and also because of the announcement in the Times on 9 November. In any case a group of Syrian and other Arab leaders in Cairo grasped its significance and protested immediately to the High Commissioner in Egypt.251


There have been hundreds of further retrospective views on the meaning of the terms in the Declaration.252 One of them was expressed on 25 February 1947 in the House of Commons by Benn Levy while arguing for the two-state solution (‘partition’) and free Jewish immigration into Palestine, against the then-Government’s plans to send their Palestine problem to the United Nations:




The Foreign Secretary [Ernest Bevin] admitted that he had some difficulty in understanding precisely what was meant by ‘a Jewish National Home.’ I sympathise. It is a nebulous phrase. But whatever it may mean, one thing is certain and that is that one cannot call a man’s home his home if he is prevented from entering it at the point of a gun.253





The “man” whose home Levy thought was Palestine was one of the tens of thousands of displaced Jewish Europeans whom the British were then preventing from entering Palestine, or from entering Britain, for that matter. He was saying that whatever else a “national home” might be, it had always included an influx of Zionist settlers.


Finally, there was startling irony in the fact that while US President Woodrow Wilson, on 8 January 1918, promised the Arab Ottoman people in Point 12 of his famous Fourteen Points (the only one relevant to Palestine) “an absolutely unmolested opportunity of autonomous development”254 [>20], the rhetoric and thrust of the wording of the Balfour Declaration had two months earlier applied this idea not to the Palestinians already living in Palestine but to the “Jewish people”, i.e. to world Jewry.255 John Quigley describes this logic, which severs ownership from territory, thus:




Balfour said that Zionism’s critics invoked self-determination to argue that Palestine should belong to the majority of its existing population. He conceded that ‘there is a technical ingenuity in that plea’ but argued that ‘the case of Jewry in all countries is absolutely exceptional… The deep, underlying principle of self-determination really points to a Zionist policy, however little in its strict technical interpretation it may seem to favour it.’256 [>122]





The logic of the Balfour Declaration postulates the ‘self’ that can rightfully determine itself in Palestine to be a group outside of Palestine – a re-definition of the term ‘self-determination’.


21 November 1917 ‘Fauzi al-Bakri…, Rafiq al-Azem…, Sulaiman Nasif…, and Faris Nimr… called on the [British] Arab Bureau [in Cairo] with a text of a telegram addressed to Balfour. … They objected to the suggestion of detaching Palestine from Syria, repeated the previous Arab offer of equality for the Jews, and repudiated “the Balfour-Rothschild” declaration as giving preferential treatment to the Jews. … [T]here is no evidence that the telegram was ever forwarded to London.’257


November 1917 Arabs are consternated when the Azvissta paper in Russia reveals the contents of the Sykes-Picot Agreement; the British and French are quick in reassuring their commitments to the Arabs.
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17. Zionist celebration in London 2 December 1917


Visible to anybody, on 2 December 1917 leading British Zionists celebrated the British Declaration of 2 November 1917 in London’s Royal Opera House – attended by future High Commissioner of Palestine Herbert Samuel as well as Walter Rothschild, Chaim Weizmann, Lord Robert Cecil, Nahum Sokolow, Lord Lamington, Chief Rabbi Joseph Hertz, and William Ormsby-Gore MP – and closed with singing ‘Hatikva’.258 Short excerpts from three of the speeches held there are given in this entry for the purpose of showing that any interested party privy to what was said would know that the Zionist consensus was to turn Palestine into a Jewish state. With hindsight this is perfectly clear, but it is important to refute the in any case implausible ideas that either a) the Zionists intended only some sort of ethnic, religious or cultural home within an Arab Palestine or b) that the true intention was somehow able to be concealed from the affected Palestinians.


Dr. Moses Gaster, a leading Zionist in Britain and a Vice-President of the 1897 Basel Congress,259 explained:




What Zionism stands for must be clearly apprehended, and also what the declaration of the British Government is expected to embody. … What we wish to obtain in Palestine is not merely a right to establish colonies or educational or cultural or industrial institutions. We want to establish in Palestine an autonomous Jewish Commonwealth in the fullest sense of the word. We want Palestine to be Palestine of the Jews and not merely a Palestine for the Jews. We want the land to be a land of Israel. The ground must be ours.260





A Palestine “of the Jews”, who owned its “ground” – concepts essential to the very term ‘Israel’.


Lord Cecil, Balfour’s deputy at the Foreign Office, stood up to laud Zionism as “the greatest step” in the direction of the self-determination of “all peoples”,261 and the speech by Ormsby-Gore included the following:




The Jewish claim to Palestine is to my mind overwhelming. … From the moment I met their Zionist leaders, whether in Egypt or in this country, I felt that there was in them something so sincere, so British, so straightforward, that at once my heart went out to them. … I have done what little I can to help forward the movement, and in the future, if you are looking out for a friend, count me as one of them.262





The Jewish Zionist leaders were “so “British”, while the Arabs were apparently not “British”. The “little” he had done was to help draft the Balfour Declaration as one of the Secretaries to the War Cabinet, and “in the future” the celebrating Zionists would indeed be able to count on him: in 1918-19 he would officially accompany the Zionist Commission to Palestine [>23]; he would be Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies from 1924 until 1929; and as Colonial Secretary from 28 May 1936-16 May 1938, that is, during the period of the Palestinian Rebellion and the rise and fall of the Peel Commission’s partition plan [>336], he would protect the national-home project. This man’s belief was that “Palestine is largely inhabited by unreasonable people. It will always be so, and strong Government by a strong external Power is essential.”263 Taxing the entirety of the indigenous residents as “unreasonable” is racist. See also Herbert Samuel’s words at the second anniversary celebration of the Balfour Declaration, in 1919, at the same London venue. [>105]
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263 CO 733/42, p 318, 1 March 1923; Wasserstein 1978, p 109.









18. General Allenby’s Proclamation December 1917/January 1918


According to Michel Fred Abcarius, in contrast to British appeals to Arab soldiers and the local population in general [>14], the Turks made a straightforward offer of Arab independence to the Sherif’s son Faisal if they would ditch their alliance with the British; the Sherif declined the offer but, in light of the newly-revealed Sykes-Picot and Balfour documents [>12; >16], demanded explanations from the British.264 According to A.L. Tibawi a Foreign Office “directive” was issued by Mark Sykes and sent to General Gilbert Clayton in Cairo on 1 December telling him to say to Sherif Hussein and Emir Faisal that




the Turks (and Germans), if not the British, would have backed Zionism… [and then] offer Arab autonomy and then smash them by use of moral force of traditional Turk dominion and usual promotion of dissension.265





At any rate growing Arab awareness of Britain’s and France’s colonialist intentions brought forth a flurry of reassuring British statements, not only this entry’s Proclamation by General Allenby of December 1917, but throughout 1918 – by David George Hogarth [>21], J.R. Bassett [>22], Henry McMahon together with Hogarth and Reginald Wingate [>20] and by the British and French Governments in the unequivocally independencepledging Anglo-French Declaration [>28].


In the lead-up to Allenby’s Proclamation the head of the Arab Bureau in Cairo, Clayton, “as early as 28 November 1917, in a telegram to the Foreign Office… spoke of Arab ‘dismay’ at the Balfour Declaration.”266 The Palestinians’ knowledge of what was planned for them required, in the eyes of the British, a counter-statement in the form of a ‘Proclamation to the people of Jerusalem’ by Allenby, in Arabic, which according to eyewitness Izzat Tannous was distributed in every Palestinian village surrounding Jerusalem267 and which stated:




The object of war in the East on the part of Great Britain was the complete and final liberation of all peoples formerly oppressed by the Turks and the establishment of national Governments and administrations in those countries deriving authority from the initiative and free will of those peoples themselves: … Great Britain agrees to encourage and assist the formation of native Governments and their recognition when formed.268





One Arabist historian who served in the Near East during World War II wrote that “General Allenby’s proclamation, published in Jerusalem towards the end of 1917, contained no reference to the Jewish National Home” and indeed “during the whole of 1918 and 1919 the [Balfour] Declaration was never officially published, never even officially referred or alluded to, in any public function [in Palestine].”269


For the existence of this Proclamation, concerning which more research is needed, I am accepting the word of those cited in this entry. I have not seen the original text of any Allenby Proclamation, in English or Arabic, and the Foreign Office in 1939, when accepting George Antonius’s argument that the Hogarth Message [>21] and the Declaration to the Seven [>25] constituted straightforward promises of independence, claimed that no such document had ever been found in HMG’s archives or in any book.270 That Allenby was authorised to issue proclamations informing inhabitants of war areas of British policy is certain.271 But clearly this announcement of late 1917 is not identical with the Anglo-French Declaration of 7/8 November 1918, perhaps initiated by Allenby and sometimes called ‘Lord Allenby’s Proclamation’.272 [see >28]


Also referring to the Anglo-French Declaration, rather than to one by Allenby alone, was for instance Andrew MacLaren who on 22 May 1939 told the Commons:




The late Sir William Joynson-Hicks, as he then was, put a question in the House [apparently in 1921 or 1922] to the present Lord Halifax, who was then Mr. Edward Wood, asking: If he would state the terms of what was then called Lord Allenby’s proclamation in Palestine in 1918? All hon. Members will remember that famous proclamation, because it was broadcast throughout the length and breadth of Palestine, and it made no reference whatever to the proposal to establish a National Home in Palestine. There was not a word about that in the proclamation. Although the proclamation was published a year after the Balfour Declaration, there is not a word in it about the [Balfour] Declaration. But the Minister replying in this House said in effect, ‘Although there is nothing in this proclamation about the Balfour Declaration, you must not take it that we do not mean to get on with the Declaration.’ There, again, is evidence of deceit.273
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